
Wyoming Business Council
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

wyomingbusiness.org   .   twitter.com/wyobizcouncil   .   facebook.com/wyobizcouncil

http://wyomingbusiness.org
https://twitter.com/wyobizcouncil
https://facebook.com/wyobizcouncil


Increasing
WYOMING'S

Prosperity



3Agenda   -  September 2018

Board of Directors Agenda 
Cody, Wyoming  •  September 5-6, 2018
Holiday Inn Cody, 1701 Sheridan Avenue, Cody, WY 82414

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 5 
(Times and order of agenda are tentative and subject to change without notice) 

Wednesday dress code is business casual 

12:00 p.m. WBC Board of Directors Executive Session 

5:30 p.m. Community Reception 

 Hosted by City of Cody 

 Held at Mentock Park (1001 Blackburn Street) (Directions and Map from Cody Holiday Inn to Mentock Park)

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 6 
(Times and order of agenda are tentative and subject to change without notice) 

Holiday Inn Cody: 1701 Sheridan Avenue, Cody, WY 82414

Thursday dress code is business attire 

8:00 a.m. Convene Public Meeting – Co-chair Illoway 

•	 Pledge of Allegiance 

•	 Welcome and introductions of Board Members 

•	 Introductory Remarks 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of minutes from May 2018 Board meeting at 
Gillette (Section A) 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of minutes from June 7, 2018 Special Meeting 
by teleconference (Section A) 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of minutes from August 31, 2018 Special 
Meeting by teleconference (Section A) 

Cody Holiday Inn

Mentock 
Park

Sheridan Ave. B
la

ck
b

ur
n 

S
t



Agenda   -  September 20184

8:15 a.m. Welcome to Cody 

•	 Mayor Matt Hall, City of Cody 

•	 Welcome to Cody Video 

9:00 a.m. Community Grant and Loan Committee – Chairwoman Kim DeVore (Section C) 

•	 Business Ready Community staff Karen Fate and Brayden Connour will present 
recommendations on the following project applications: 

•	 Each project will be presented by staff with opportunities for Board questions and public 
comment 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of staff recommendations for each project 

10:30 a.m. Business Contract and Loan Committee 

•	 Ron Harvey, Chair / Josh Keefe, Staff Lead 

•	 Chief Strategy Officer Sarah Fitz-Gerald will present proposed Administrative Rules for 
the Kickstart Wyoming and SBIR Matching Grant Programs 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of Administrative Rules for adoption. 

11:00 a.m. Market Development Advisory Committee 

•	 Kelly Lockhart, Chair / Ron Gullberg, Staff Lead 

11:15 a.m. Business Development Advisory Committee 

•	 Ron Kensey, Chair / Brandon Marshall, Staff Lead 

11:30 a.m. Community Development Advisory Committee 

•	 Jerry Blann, Chair / Kim Porter, Staff Lead 

11:45 a.m. Lunch Break 

•	 Lunch provided on-site for Board and Staff 

•	 Members of the public are encouraged to sample one of the local restaurants 

12:45 p.m. Industrial Development Advisory Committee 

•	 Cactus Covello, Chair / Sarah Fitz-Gerald, Staff Lead 

1:00 p.m. Northwest Region Update – Amy Quick 

1:15 p.m. Northeast Region Update – Brandi Harlow 

Project Type Request Staff 
Recommendation

Page 
Number

Gunwerks Grant Business Committed 3,000,000$        3,000,000$                    C-7
Gunwerks - Loan Business Committed 3,000,000$        3,000,000$                    C-7
Evergreen Plaza Assisted Living Business Committed 3,000,000$        3,000,000$                    C-11
Tech Park - balance of request CD - Readiness 800,000$           -$                                   C-15
Fiber Improvement Resubmit CD - Readiness 1,440,256$        -$                                   C-21
Powell Conference Center CD - Readiness 2,623,724$        2,623,724$                    C-25
Old Stoney Restoration Shortfall CD - Readiness 300,000$           300,000$                        C-29
Antelope Butte Mtn Recreation Area CD - Enhancement 185,600$           185,600$                        C-35

14,349,580$      12,109,324$                  Total Requests

3. Buffalo, City of
4. Gillette, City of
5. Powell, City of
6. Sundance, City of
7. Big Horn County

2. Goshen Care JPB

BRC Applications Received June 1, 2018

Applicant

1. Cody
1. Cody



5Agenda   -  September 2018

1:30 p.m. Southeast Region Update – Heather Tupper 

1:45 p.m. South Central Region Update – Rebecca Briesmaster 

2:00 p.m. West Region Update – Elaina Zempel 

2:15 p.m. East Central Region Update – Kim Rightmer 

2:30 p.m. Other Board Matters 

•	 Advisory Committees will meet during the week of October 29 

•	 Final Board meeting of 2018 is December 5-6 at Laramie 

2:40 p.m. Closing Remarks and Adjournment 



Agenda   -  September 20186



7Minutes   -  September 2018

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Erin Moore, Ron Kensey, Cactus Covello, Aaron Sopko, Megan Goetz, Pete Illoway, Mike Easley, Kim DeVore, Kelly 
Lockhart, Mike Wandler, Jason Kintzler, Allen Hoopes, Jerry Blann

WELCOME TO GILLETTE

Mayor Louise, Carter-King, Mark Christensen, Phil Christopherson and Dr. Mark Englert - welcomed the board and 
discussed the latest economic development trends and events happening in Gillette, Campbell County and at Gillette 
College.

• Action: The board approved meeting minutes from the March 2018 board meeting in Evanston. Moved by Kim 
DeVore, seconded by Cactus Covello. Passed unanimously.

Dave Glenn provided an update regarding the Outdoor Recreation Task Force

CEO REPORT

CEO Shawn Reese offered his report about staff work at the Wyoming Business Council

ADVISORY COMMITTEE UPDATES

Kelly Lockhart and Ron Gullberg provided an update to market development

Aaron Sopko, Allen Hoopes and Colin McKee provided an update on technology development

• Action: The board approved the recommended members for the Broadband Advisory Council. Moved by Erin 
Moore, seconded by Megan Goetz. Passed unanimously.

Ron Kensey an Brandon Marshall provided an update for business development

The board took a short morning break.

Upon return from the break, Jerry Blann and Kim Porter provided an update for community development

Cactus Covello and Sarah Fitzgerald provided an update for industrial development

REGIONAL UPDATES

Elaina Zempel, Amy Quick, Brandi Harlow, Heather Tupper and Rebecca Briesmaster provided updates for each of 
their regions.

DRAFT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
GILLETTE, WYOMING – MAY 23-24, 2018



Minutes  -  September 20188

PUBLIC COMMENT

David Bell offered comments about manufacturing

PERSONNEL, BUDGET and AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Following an update from the personnel, budget and audit committee from Mike Easley, Janet Marschner offered her 
financial reports.

• Action: The board accepted and approved those financial reports. Moved by Cactus, seconded by Mike Easley. 
Passed unanimously.

The board broke for lunch.

Following a lunch break, Sen. Michael Von Flatern discussed updates to air service in Wyoming.

BUSINESS CONTRACT and LOAN COMMITTEE REPORT

Committee chairman Ron Harvey introduced the committee

Business Development Director Ron Gullberg reviewed the Business Resource Network contracts

Economic Development Finance Manager Josh Keefe reviewed the quarterly Challenge Loan report

• Action: The board accepted the quarterly Challenge Loan report. Moved by Kim DeVore, seconded by Mike 
Wandler. Passed unanimously.

Keefe discussed the WIDC-CDC Revolving Line of Credit Renewal

• Action: The board approved the credit renewal. Moved by Megan Goetz, seconded by Aaron Sopko. Passed 
unanimously.

Keefe discussed the annual Challenge Loan report cover page, review of Audit, Review of loan portfolio, the annual 
SBIC report and the WyoTech loan

• Action: The board accepted the audit findings. Moved by Megan Goetz, seconded by Kelly Lockhart. Passed 
unanimously.

• Action: The board accepted the SBIC report. Moved by Mike Easley seconded by Mike Wandler. Passed 
unanimously.

• Action: The board ratified the loan to WyoTech. Moved by Kim DeVore, seconded by Mike Wandler. Passed 
unanimously.

COMMUNITY GRANT and LOAN COMMITTEE REPORT

Community Development Director Julie Kozlowski provided an update for her division.

Karen Fate and Brayden Connour presented two BRC projects – a community readiness project for Cheyenne and a 
planning grant for Riverton.

Project representatives (Robert Briggs, Cheyenne Planning Director, Dale Steenbergen, Chamber Executive Director, 
Brendan Ames, Coldwell Banker, and Retired Col. Stephan Kravistsky, former 90th Missile Wing Commander, F.E. 
Warren AFB – call in) gave the background of the project and the housing shortage problem to airmen stationed at 
the base. They spoke of the benefits to the city in development of the western gateway of the city, the commercial 
development on site, and to F.E. Warren AFB by providing affordable housing for the 500 plus airman who currently 
live and commute outside of the city of Cheyenne.  All representatives reiterated how the project is mission critical 
to F.E. Warren AFB. 



9Minutes   -  September 2018

The board asked about what the collateral for the loan was.  Staff and representatives answered that this was an 
infrastructure project involving water and sewer and that the city was guaranteeing repayment of loan through 
general funds, and reserve funds if creation of tax increment funds through special districts do not come to fruition. 

The board also asked if any housing would be made available to the public, or was it exclusive only to airmen, and 
would it solve the housing problem?  Mr. Briggs responded that the housing would be made available first to base 
personnel and any excess would be made available to the public. 

The board voted unanimously to recommend this project for funding as a Community Readiness grant in the amount 
of $3,000,000 and a $1,337,455 Community Readiness loan with the contingencies staff recommended. 

• Action: The board recommended funding the Cheyenne project as recommended by staff. Moved by Cactus 
Covello, seconded by Mike Easley. Passed unanimously.

The board heard from Kevin Kershisnik, Executive Director of IDEA, Inc. He spoke of all the uses and benefits that 
Riverton has used BRC funding in the past and how this plan would be beneficial going forward. The board views 
planning grants as great ways for a community to do their due diligence and prepare themselves for projects that can 
succeed.

• Action: The board recommended funding the Riverton project as recommended by staff. Moved by Erin Moore, 
seconded by Mike Easley. Passed unanimously.

Julie Kozlowski then presented a proposal for handling remaining BRC funds and the BRC grant and loan program 
allocation plan

• Action: The board approved the staff recommendation for handling remaining BRC funds. Moved by Mike 
Wandler, seconded by Aaron Sopko. Passed unanimously.

• Action: The board approved option “B” for adjusting the allocation plan. Moved by Megan Goetz, seconded by 
Kelly Lockhart. Passed unanimously. 

CLOSING REMARKS and ADJOURNMENT

The board discussed upcoming committee meetings and other events before calling for adjournment.

Respectfully Submitted:

  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Tom Dixon, Content Marketing Manager       Date

 

  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Mike Easley, Secretary/Treasurer        Date



Minutes  -  September 201810



11Welcome   - September 2018

WELCOME TO 

CODY
To travelers, a stop in Cody, 
Wyoming, carries the promise 
of a step back in time; and it 
certainly doesn’t disappoint. 

Cody was founded in the 
early 1900s by the famed 
cowboy, buffalo hunter, Army 
scout, hunting guide, stage 
actor and investor who would 
become a symbol of the rough-
and-tough American West, 
William F. “Buffalo Bill” Cody. 
Its downtown main street, 
Sheridan Ave., is rumored 
to have been designed wide 
enough to accommodate 
turning a six-horse wagon team 
and has certainly seen a high-
noon shootout or two. With 
such historic charm, it’s easy to 

see why tourism is Cody's main 
industry. 

Still, while Cody is happy to 
capitalize on its storied past 
and welcome travelers on 
their way to Yellowstone’s east 
entrance 50 miles away, this 
Wyoming town is certainly not 
stuck in the dust. Its unique 
culture includes dude ranches 
and rodeos right alongside a 
vibrant downtown, up-and-
coming manufacturing and 
high-tech companies, as well as 
a growing family-friendly scene.  

A rich history 
In a time of dime novels, 
traveling stage shows, 
and cowboys and Indians, 

“Buffalo Bill” Cody -- with 
his memorable Stetson hat, 
buckskin jacket and leather 
boots -- became one of the 
most famous American heroes. 
He introduced the world to 
the rugged American West 
while bringing investment and 
innovation with him.   

He was a risk-taking 
businessman himself, investing 
his wealth into projects he 
thought would bring economic 
prosperity to the West, such 
as mining, ranching, oil and 
coal development, hotels and 
publications.  

In the late 1900s, Cody, 
impressed by the beauty of the 
region and the abundance of 

A LEGENDARY PAST AND A BRIGHT FUTURE 



game and fish, invested heavily 
into what would become the 
city of Cody.  

The story of Cody – both the 
city and its founder – is just 
one of countless stories found 
within the Buffalo Bill Center 
of the West, which includes 
the Buffalo Bill Museum, the 
Whitney Western Art Museum, 
the Cody Firearms Museum, 
the Draper Natural History 
Museum, the Plains Indian 
Museum and the McCracken 
Research Library. 

The Center welcomes 175,000 
visitors annually, 15 percent of 
which are international visitors, 
and 75 percent of which are 
traveling to Yellowstone. It 
employs 85 full-time staff and 
250 total employees during 
the busy height of the summer. 
It's among the top-five 
employers in the community 
and the largest private cultural 
institution in the state. And it 
contributes $30 to $50 million 
to the local economy every 
year, said its executive director 
and CEO, Bruce Eldredge.  

Eldredge said the Cody 
Firearms Museum is its most 
popular attraction. It tells the 
story of the American West 
through the progression of 
its firearms, from the earliest 
days in the 16th century to 
modern technology. 

Visitors can also get a sense 
of what life in the American 
Frontier was like at the turn 
of the century at Old Trail 
Town, conveniently located on 
the road between Cody and 
Yellowstone. It’s a collection 
of carefully relocated historic 
buildings and artifacts from 
Wyoming and Montana, 
some of which were used by 
America’s famous outlaws, 
Butch Cassidy and the 
Sundance Kid. 

Also showcasing American-
West traditions, the Cody Nite 
Show Rodeo and Stampede 
have been held every summer 
since 1919 — a tradition 
begun by Buffalo Bill’s own 
Wild West Show. Cody has 
come to be known as The 
Rodeo Capital of the World 

thanks to its nightly rodeos 
from June 1 to Aug. 31 and 
its larger Stampede Rodeo 
held over the Fourth of July 
each year. Both shows have 
been the proving grounds for 

Cody Firearms Museum

Photo: Wyoming Business 
Council

Welcome   -  September 201812



13Welcome   - September 2018

some world-famous rodeo 
cowboys such as Jim Houston, 
Chris LeDoux, Tom Ferguson, 
Deb Greenough and Dan 
Mortensen.

A promising future 
While Cody embraces its 
rugged beginnings, it also looks 
ahead. Many are surprised to 
learn that the city offers more 
than tourism, with several 
up-and-coming ventures that 
are taking advantage of the 
natural resources, mature 
infrastructure and high quality 
of life. 

Companies like Wyoming 
Authentic Products combine 
the past, present and future of 
business in Wyoming. Its story 
began alongside Buffalo Bill’s, 
with the Fales family arriving in 
the Cody area and starting to 
raise Wyoming cattle in 1918, 
just after the completion of the 
Buffalo Bill Dam project that 

allowed the Big Horn Basin 
area to be developed. 

Today, David Fales runs 
Wyoming Authentic Products, 
a U.S. Department of 
Agriculture-approved beef 
processing facility. Its main 
product is a beef snack stick 
sold in about 8,000 locations 
in North America.  

In 2017, the plant received 
a $748,360 grant from the 
Wyoming Business council 
for a 3,500 square-foot 
expansion, with the goal 
of doubling its production 
capacity as well as increasing 
office and storage space. 

A second USDA facility, 
Wyoming Legacy Meats, was 
developed in 2017, adding to the 
value-added food processing 
capability of the region. 

Oil and gas extraction has 
also been a backbone industry 
in Cody for decades. One of 
the first oil wells in Wyoming 
was drilled in nearby Oregon 
Basin, just over 100 years 
ago. The industry continues 
to provide quality jobs and 
opens opportunities for 
supporting businesses, such 
as JCA Companies. 

Josh Allison, owner of JCA 
Companies, is continuing to 
innovate within the industry. 

He and his team have 
developed the patent-pending 
C-MOR lighting system for 
oil rigs and fracking sites. 
It’s a cheaper, safer, simpler 
and more environmentally 
friendly alternative to halogen 
lighting systems that run on 
diesel motors, Allison said. 
C-MOR lights mount to the rig 
crown and run off the of the 
rig’s power, providing light in 
a radius of about 200 yards 
from the base of the rig. The 

system allows for safer working 
conditions on rigs that drill 
24 hours per day, which is 
common, Allison said. 

C-MOR lights are currently 
being used in North Dakota, 
the Powder River Basin, 
Colorado, Texas, Ohio, New 
Mexico and Oklahoma; and 
Allison said the company 
is currently backlogged for 
months with interest from 
additional companies. 

The custom systems are 
designed, welded and 
fabricated right in Cody. 

“Wyoming is very business 
friendly,” Allison said. “It might 
be a little bit easier for me in 
Texas, to be closer to the oil 
field, but I like the community 
(in Cody). This is home to me.”

Also adding value and diversity 
in manufacturing is Cody 
Coffee Roaster. It began as a 
side-hustle in Jesse Renfors’ 
backyard while he was a stay-
at-home dad. When demand 
for his small-batch, fair-trade, 
organic coffee beans grew 

Cody Nite Show Rodeo  
and Stampede

Photo: Wyoming Business Council

C-MOR 
lighting 
system

Photo: www 
.cmorenergy 
.com



Welcome   -  September 201814

beyond what Renfors could 
deliver on his bike with his 
kids in tow, he converted a 
camper into a roasting room.  

In June 2016, he opened a café 
at its current location in the 
former Yellowstone airport, 
and he currently ships coffee 
all over the state and nation. 

The café is a local favorite for 
a cup of coffee and a crepe in 
the morning, Renfors said.  

He works with local businesses 
such as hotels and ranches to 
sell his coffee and buys from 
local farmers for his café menu 
items. 

“The way that Wyoming 
takes care of Wyoming is 
unbelievable,” Renfors said 
about doing business in the 
state. “I never thought that we 
would do the business that we 
are doing currently.” 

Today, Renfors is working to 
open a second café location 
downtown.

While pharmaceutical 
company Cody Laboratories 
has had some bumps in the 
road lately, it continues to be a 
viable and important company 
in Cody. It currently employs 

130 people and serves as a 
testament to the potential 
of Wyoming’s smaller 
communities to support 
diversity and growth. 

Another example of 
this potential is Eleutian 
Technology, an English 
language education company. 
Utilizing the excellent 
broadband in the region, 
the company offers online 
English classes to all ages in 
countries like Japan, Korea 
and Indonesia.  

The Wyoming Business 
Council supported both Cody 
Laboratories and Eleutian 
Technology with grants for 
expansion in 2012 and 2010, 
respectively. 

A family-friendly community 
Whether Cody residents are 
making a living from the city’s 
rich history or are innovating 
for its promising future, its 
fantastic quality of life helps 
recruit and retain its workers. 
The Cody area boasts world-
class rock climbing in its 
backyard, a thriving art scene 
bolstered by its incredible 
scenery, and a growing 

family-friendly 
environment, 
particularly 
thanks to the 
new inclusive 
playground at 
Mentock Park.  

The playground 
received a 
$150,0000 
Business Council 
grant in 2016 
to install ADA-
compliant 
equipment, and 
the community 
provided 

matching funds. 

The playground is designed to 
meet the needs of all children, 
as well as their friends and 
families. So, not only can 
children of all abilities enjoy it, 
their friends and guardians of 
all abilities can join them, side-
by-side. 

“It’s absolutely awesome,” 
said the CEO and president 
of Forward Cody, James 
Klessens, who is also a 
Rotarian and helped with the 
fundraising efforts. “The kids 
just love it. It was absolutely 
a stellar effort by the 
community to get this done.” 

Not only does the park 
improve quality of life for 
locals, he added, but it 
offers yet another reason for 
travelers with young kids to 
stop in Cody as they drive 
through. 

While Cody’s claim to fame 
may always be its rugged 
western charm and its famous 
Founding Father, Cody 
residents know its little secret: 
Cody’s innovators and big 
thinkers are leading it toward 
a bright future. 

Cody Coffee Roaster

Photo: Wyoming Business 
Council



15Tax Exemption Reports   -  December 2016

Park COUNTY
HOUSING REPORT

2017

Many factors in a community are considered 
to develop a comprehensive understanding 
of its housing environment.  Park County’s 
housing report is a tool to help the 
community understand its current unmet 
housing needs.  In addition to this report, 
more detailed housing information can be 
found at http://bit.ly/2hgY6Oq.

Park County is the eighth most populated 
county in Wyoming. The top-industry 
employers in Park County are leisure and 
hospitality, which may explain the need for 
housing costing less than $1,342 per month.

Park County needs:
• 610 units to meet current rental needs.  
  • 590 (97%) with rents less than   

  $1,074 month 
• 2,090 owner units are needed 
  • 1,475 (71%) need to cost less than  

  $166,297

Workforce housing needs: 
• 20 rental units less than $1,594 per 

month
• 615 owner units less than $246,813

Housing Demand

Percent of Median 
Family Income

Affordable  
Monthly Rental or 

Mortgage Payment [2]

Affordable Housing 
Purchase Price [1]

 Shortage Units  
for Purchase [1]

 Shortage Rental  
Units Needed [2]

0-30 $0-$503 $0-$77,884  450  225 

31-50 $503-$839 $77,884-$129,910  335  285 

51-80 $839-$1,342 $129,910-$207,794  690  80 

81-95 $1,342-$1,594 $207,794-$246,813  185  -   

96-115 $1,594-$1,930 $246,813-$298,839  130  20 

115+ $1,930 $298,839  300  -   

Ranks 11 of 23

28% 
RENTER RATE

Wyoming 11.1%
Ranks 14 of 23

9.6% 
POVERTY RATE

Wyoming $4,930
Ranks 13 of 23

$4,697
MONTHLY 

HOUSEHOLD INCOME

Park County
BY THE NUMBERS

[1] [2] WCDA: 2017 Housing Needs Forecast



Tax Exemption Reports   -  December 201616

674 

$163 

408 

$488 

1,003 

$813 

1,637 

$1,138 

1,258 

$1,463 

1,182 

$1,788 

 -

 200

 400

 600

 800

 1,000

 1,200

 1,400

 1,600

 1,800

 2,000

 Units Pmt  Units Pmt  Units Pmt  Units Pmt  Units Pmt  Units Pmt

U
ni

ts
/P

ay
m

en
t

$0-$50,000 $50-$100,000 $100-$150,000 $150-$200,000 $200-$250,000 $250-$300,000

2      2017 Park County Housing Report   

[3] Dept. of Employment: 2017 Wyoming Inter-County Commuter Report
[4] datausa.io: Housing and Living Data (Derived from Census Data)

The top chart shows the number of owner occupied units by price range and the 
associated estimated monthly payment.  The bottom chart shows the number of 
rental units by bedroom size and the estimated average monthly cost.

*No cost figure represents no data available.

How affordable is Park County rental housing?[4]

The definition of affordable housing is 30% of a family’s income, 
and any income level can be burdened by housing costs.  

Area Median Income (AMI) is the middle income in an area.  Half of the 
households in the area make more than the AMI and half make less.  

• Most federal housing assistance is available to people who are at 50% or 
lower of AMI, or half the average income.  

• Some assistance is available at 80% of AMI or lower.  
• Generally, those families who earn over 120% of AMI have enough disposable 

income to have housing choices both in quality and cost.  
• The missing middle are those families who earn 80-120% of AMI – this is 

generally referred to as “workforce” housing, keeping in mind that many 
families who are below 80% of AMI work several jobs to be able to afford 
housing and work in industries that are vital to our communities, such as 
accommodations, food service and retail.

How many owner occupied
units exist in Park County? [4]

16.4% of Park County’s workforce 
commutes from other communities 
and 11.3% of Park County residents 
commute elsewhere.  With the 
commuter inflows and outflows, Park 
County may need another 766 housing 
units to meet the housing needs 
above the identified needs on page 
1.  The question is, do these people 
live outside of Park County due to a 
housing shortage, housing costs, cost 
of living or quality of life concerns?

Commuting [3]

Top 5 counties with commuters  
to Park County

Natrona
56

Fremont 
92

Top 5 counties with commuters 
from Park County

Natrona 
145

Albany 
76

Fremont 
76

Big Horn 
447

Big Horn 
598

Washakie 
       114

Sheridan
90

Sheridan
70

948 
people work in Park County, 

but permanently reside  
out of state.

62 

$504 

795 

$567 

1,362 

$655 

871 $861 

185 

$1,055 

33 

$1,263 

Units Cost Units Cost Units Cost Units Cost Units Cost Units Cost

5 Bedroom4 Bedroom3 Bedroom2 Bedroom1 BedroomEfficiency



17Tax Exemption Reports   -  December 2016

Housing Stock

2017 Park County Housing Report      3

[5] [6] [7] [8] Wyoming Housing Database Partnership: Park County Housing Profile 
[9] datausa.io: Housing and Living Data (Derived from Census Data)
[10] Dept. of Employment: Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages

Careers and Cost Burden

How does Park County's  
household cost burden compare  

to other counties?[8]

Percent of Area  
Median Income

Percent of Household 
(Rank by County)

0-30% 79% (7)

31-50% 14% (13)

Above 50% 7% (18)

How much can 
households afford?[9]

Max Monthly 
Payment

Number of 
Households

 $0-313 780

$314-563 1,064

$564-813 1,315

$814-$1,063 1,360

 $1,064-1,375 1,713

 $1,376-2,188 3,412

 $2,189-3,438 1,561

 $3,439-5,000 617

7% of Park County households 
spend more than half their 
income on housing and 
14% spend 31-50% of their 
income on housing.  79% 
have affordable housing (less 
than 30% of income spent on 
housing).  Park County ranks 
seventh in the state for those 
having affordable housing. 

Park County ranks eighth in the state for new housing stock.  Older 
housing stock sometimes brings with it maintenance and aesthetic 
challenges.    

How does Park County's housing  
mix compare to other counties?[6]

Unit Type Number of Units Percent of Mix/Rank

Single Family  9,261 78.34% (7)

Duplex  362 3.06% (3)

Tri or Four Plex  538 4.55% (6)

Apartment  495 4.19% (16)

Trailer/Other  1,166 9.86% (17)

Age of Housing[7]

Year Built Value* 
(Rank by County)

Percent of Mix

<1939  $180,300 (3) 9%

1940-49  $157,100 (5) 8%

1950-59 $188,300 (3) 8%

1960-69  $178,800 (5) 10%

1970-79  $204,900 (5) 16%

1980-89  $228,900 (2) 16%

1990-99  $265,500 (3) 15%

2000-09  $298,200 (1) 15%

2010-Present $236,800 (6) 3%

Park County average 
housing age

41 Years

Wyoming's average 
housing age

42 Years

51% of housing in 
Park County was built 

before 1980

[5]

Pre-1980 housing may not may not meet 
current construction standards.

*Data only available in 14 counties. 2010-Present available in 10 counties.

$486
$1,243

$667
$1,185 $1,007

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

Leisure &
Hospitality

Health Services Retail Trade Public
Administration

Educational
Services

# of Workers Monthly Wage Affordable Housing Payment (30% of Wage)

Where do residents work, how much do they make,  
and how much housing payment can they afford?

Top 5 Industry Employers [10]



Tax Exemption Reports   -  December 201618

How much monthly income does my family  
need to live without assistance? [11]

County Rank 14

One Adult  $1,530 

Two Adults  $2,495 

Two Adults, 1 Child  $3,474 

Two Adults, 2 Children  $4,400 

Vulnerable populations are 
populations that are at a disadvantage 

and include the elderly, the poor, 
minorities, and children in single-
family homes to name a few. This 

chart depicts some of the vulnerable 
populations in Park County.  Higher 

unemployment could be indicative of 
a volatile housing market. 

Vulnerable Populations [12]

Metric Percent/Number of Households  
or Individuals (Rank)

Supplemental Security Income (SSI) 3.8%, 453 Households (9)

Cash public assistance income 2.4%, 284 Households (4)

Food Stamp/SNAP 4%, 470 Households (18)

Children in single-parent families 25% of Children (13)

Total Low Income Tax Credit Units 1.1%, 128 Units (9)

Assisted Living Beds .63%, 75 Beds (9)

Nursing Home Beds 1.64%, 194 Beds (8)

Population over 65 21.3%,  6,252 Persons (5)

Unemployment 4.7%, 751 Persons (13)

Park County has a higher share 
of unaffordable housing than 

Wyoming, but less than the 
United States at 27.6%.

Park County has a lower share 
of renters with unaffordable 

housing than Wyoming and the 
United States at 19.1%.

Housing Costs as a Percent of Household Income, 2015*

4      2017 Park County Housing Report

* ACS five-year estimates used.   
2015 represents average characteristics from 

2011-2015; 2010 represents 2006-2010.

One adult needs to make  
$1,530 a month  
to live without assistance.

[11] Wyoming Housing Database Partnership: Park County Housing Profile
[12] [13] Head Water Economics, Populations at Risk 2015 (Derived from Census Data)

[13]

Community Demographics

27.6%
24.3%

32.3%

19.1%

35.7%

47.9%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Park County, WY Wyoming U.S.

Mortgage cost >30% of household income Rent >30% of household income

2017 PROJECT PROFILES

park County

362
BUSINESS READY ACRES WATER AND SEWER LINES

46,764 LINEAR FEET 4,000
BUSINESS ACCESS ROADS

LINEAR FEET 80,980
BUSINESS READY BUILDINGS 

SQUARE FEET

BASIC INFRASTRUCTURE

21
BUSINESSES ASSISTED

304
JOBS CREATED

$31,997,000
PRIVATE INVESTMENT

$19,070,734
BRC FUNDING

$15,372,975
LOCAL MATCH FUNDING

PERFORMANCE

Jobs, private investment and infrastructure data are monitored until project evaluation closeout, which is generally three to five years after construction is complete. 
Performance data for projects still under evaluation are based on projections.

PARK COUNTY DATE 
AWARDED

BRC 
FUNDING

LOCAL 
MATCH

Park County Fairgrounds Improvements 
Construct a facility and other improvements to the Park County Fairgrounds. Status: Construction 2014 $485,391 $2,614,609

George Farms Value-Added Dairy Feasibility Study 
Local business economic development planning to assess the market potential of an expansion of 
George Farms Dairy. Status: Complete

2013 $25,000 $16,761

Sleeping Giant Ski Area 
Improvements including electrical upgrades and installation of a beginner's chair lift, snow-making 
infrastructure and the west-side chair lift.  Jobs: 35; Status: Complete

2009 $500,000 $1,178,152

CODY DATE 
AWARDED

BRC 
FUNDING

LOCAL 
MATCH

Cody Wyoming Authentic Products Facility Expansion 
Construct a 3,500 square-foot expansion for additional meet preparation and smoker space for Wyoming 
Authentic Products. Jobs: 10; Status: Construction

2016 $748,360 $346,836 

Cody Mentock Park Universally Accessible Playground 
Replace and install ADA-compliant playground equipment at Mentock park located at 901 Blackburn St. 
Status: Construction

2016 $150,000 $260,200

Riley Ice Arena Spectator Seating 
Replace and install new bleachers at the Victor J. Riley Arena located at 1400 Heart Mountain St.  
Jobs: 2; Status: Evaluation Period

2013 $46,180 $47,733

Cody Laboratories Expansion - Warehouse Facility 
Construct a 23,725 square-foot warehouse facility attached to the existing Cody Laboratories facility on 
the south side of the west end of the existing structure. Jobs: 47; Status: Evaluation Period

2012 $2,531,424 $1,512,812

Gunsmithing School Feasibility Study 
Regional economic development planning to assess the benefits of creating a firearms manufacturing 
training facility in Cody. Status: Complete

2013 $25,000 $29,387

Cody Stampede Revitalization 
Enhance the Cody Stampede rodeo facilities located at 519 W. Yellowstone Ave. Specifically the project 
will replace the front aisle wooden decking, the ramp leading into the grandstands and hand railing 
along with installation of a new roof, addition of 28 parking spaces that meet ADA requirements and 
entranceway enhancements. Status: Complete

2012 $242,451 $242,449

Wyoming Authentic Products Processing Facility 
Construct a 6,000 square-foot value added beef processing facility for Wyoming authentic Products, LLC, 
a start-up company.  Jobs: 14; Status: Complete

2012 $1,223,178 $141,800

Eleutian Technology Corporate Headquarters 
Construct a 10,000 square-foot building to facilitate the expansion of Eleutian Technology.  
Jobs: 37; Status: Complete

2010 $2,998,599 $349,700

Cody Light Manufacturing Building 
Purchase a 12,000 square-foot building and 1.34 acres of land to attract manufacturers.  
Jobs: 4; Status: Complete

2010 $727,778 $81,135

For more information contact Julie Kozlowski at 307.777.2812 ▪ Last updated 11/16/17

Active Project Completed Project



19Tax Exemption Reports   -  December 2016

2017 PROJECT PROFILES

park County

362
BUSINESS READY ACRES WATER AND SEWER LINES

46,764 LINEAR FEET 4,000
BUSINESS ACCESS ROADS

LINEAR FEET 80,980
BUSINESS READY BUILDINGS 

SQUARE FEET

BASIC INFRASTRUCTURE

21
BUSINESSES ASSISTED

304
JOBS CREATED

$31,997,000
PRIVATE INVESTMENT

$19,070,734
BRC FUNDING

$15,372,975
LOCAL MATCH FUNDING

PERFORMANCE

Jobs, private investment and infrastructure data are monitored until project evaluation closeout, which is generally three to five years after construction is complete. 
Performance data for projects still under evaluation are based on projections.

PARK COUNTY DATE 
AWARDED

BRC 
FUNDING

LOCAL 
MATCH

Park County Fairgrounds Improvements 
Construct a facility and other improvements to the Park County Fairgrounds. Status: Construction 2014 $485,391 $2,614,609

George Farms Value-Added Dairy Feasibility Study 
Local business economic development planning to assess the market potential of an expansion of 
George Farms Dairy. Status: Complete

2013 $25,000 $16,761

Sleeping Giant Ski Area 
Improvements including electrical upgrades and installation of a beginner's chair lift, snow-making 
infrastructure and the west-side chair lift.  Jobs: 35; Status: Complete

2009 $500,000 $1,178,152

CODY DATE 
AWARDED

BRC 
FUNDING

LOCAL 
MATCH

Cody Wyoming Authentic Products Facility Expansion 
Construct a 3,500 square-foot expansion for additional meet preparation and smoker space for Wyoming 
Authentic Products. Jobs: 10; Status: Construction

2016 $748,360 $346,836 

Cody Mentock Park Universally Accessible Playground 
Replace and install ADA-compliant playground equipment at Mentock park located at 901 Blackburn St. 
Status: Construction

2016 $150,000 $260,200

Riley Ice Arena Spectator Seating 
Replace and install new bleachers at the Victor J. Riley Arena located at 1400 Heart Mountain St.  
Jobs: 2; Status: Evaluation Period

2013 $46,180 $47,733

Cody Laboratories Expansion - Warehouse Facility 
Construct a 23,725 square-foot warehouse facility attached to the existing Cody Laboratories facility on 
the south side of the west end of the existing structure. Jobs: 47; Status: Evaluation Period

2012 $2,531,424 $1,512,812

Gunsmithing School Feasibility Study 
Regional economic development planning to assess the benefits of creating a firearms manufacturing 
training facility in Cody. Status: Complete

2013 $25,000 $29,387

Cody Stampede Revitalization 
Enhance the Cody Stampede rodeo facilities located at 519 W. Yellowstone Ave. Specifically the project 
will replace the front aisle wooden decking, the ramp leading into the grandstands and hand railing 
along with installation of a new roof, addition of 28 parking spaces that meet ADA requirements and 
entranceway enhancements. Status: Complete

2012 $242,451 $242,449

Wyoming Authentic Products Processing Facility 
Construct a 6,000 square-foot value added beef processing facility for Wyoming authentic Products, LLC, 
a start-up company.  Jobs: 14; Status: Complete

2012 $1,223,178 $141,800

Eleutian Technology Corporate Headquarters 
Construct a 10,000 square-foot building to facilitate the expansion of Eleutian Technology.  
Jobs: 37; Status: Complete

2010 $2,998,599 $349,700

Cody Light Manufacturing Building 
Purchase a 12,000 square-foot building and 1.34 acres of land to attract manufacturers.  
Jobs: 4; Status: Complete

2010 $727,778 $81,135

For more information contact Julie Kozlowski at 307.777.2812 ▪ Last updated 11/16/17

Active Project Completed Project



Tax Exemption Reports   -  December 201620

park county

MEETEETSE DATE 
AWARDED

BRC 
FUNDING

LOCAL 
MATCH

Rodeo Ground Improvements 
Improvements to the Meeteetse Rodeo Grounds including shortening the arena on the east end allowing 
for more pens and a feeding lane, narrowing the arena width, redoing the strip chute, installing a water 
line, installing posts, panels, roping and return alleys, and installing underground electricity.  
Status: Complete

2011 $43,886 $54,617

POWELL DATE 
AWARDED

BRC 
FUNDING

LOCAL 
MATCH

Gluten Free Oats Phase II Build Out 
Construct an 8,000 square-foot steel frame warehousing facility, additional grain storage facilities and a 
grain receiving area to enhance the business development of Gluten Free Oats.  
Jobs: 18; Status: Evaluation Period

2014 $946,404 $114,951 

Gluten Free Oats Expansion- additional funding request 
See Gluten Free Oats Expansion project. Jobs: 4; Status: Complete 2011 $267,795 $29,755

Gluten Free Oats Expansion 
Construct a 2,880 square-foot concrete building to facilitate the expansion of Gluten Free Oats, LLC.  
Jobs: 10; Status: Complete

2010 $450,000 $71,746

Infrastructure for Homestead Industrial Park 
Construct roads, curb and gutter, sidewalk, waterlines, fire hydrants, sewer and storm water sewer 
connections to a 30-acre site owned by Target Powell Valley, the economic development arm of the 
Powell Valley Chamber of Commerce. Jobs: 6; Status: Complete

2006 $1,297,978 $183,165

Infrastructure for Gateway West Commercial Park 
Develop infrastructure in a 24-acre mixed-use site at a key community gateway.   
Jobs: 39; Status: Complete

2005 $1,500,000 $205,331

Infrastructure for Watertower West Development 
Construct a collector street, with waterlines and sewer lines, which will access 12 commercial lots in a 
mixed-unit development at one of the community's key gateways. Jobs: 39; Status: Complete

2004 $228,546 $73,018

For more information contact Julie Kozlowski at 307.777.2812 ▪ Last updated 11/16/17

Active Project Completed Project

CODY DATE 
AWARDED

BRC 
FUNDING

LOCAL 
MATCH

Infrastructure for Light Industrial Park 
Install water and sewer infrastructure to the North Cody Light Industrial Area, which straddles Road 2AB 
north of the Shoshone River and is accessible by rail. Jobs: 6; Status: Complete

2007 $3,000,000 $5,387,105

Infrastructure for Airport Business Park 
Engineering, site improvements and the installation of water, sewer and streets at a new airport business 
park on property owned by the city of Cody. Status: Complete

2005 $1,500,000 $2,423,447

Water, Electric (Fremont Motors and Others) 
Extend city water and accessories (fire hydrants, etc.) and 600-amp, three-phase electrical service to a 
new 9.89-acre site.  Jobs: 13; Status: Complete

2004 $133,718 $8,267



Increasing
WYOMING'S

Prosperity



VISION
▪ Wyoming’s industries are strong, diverse and expanding. 
▪ Small business is a big deal. 
▪ Wyoming is the technology center of the High Plains. 
▪ Communities have the highest quality of life. 
▪ Wyoming knows no boundaries.

2016-2026 Strategic Framework for

Increasing wyoming’s prosperity

Wyoming will outpace 
the nation’s GDP growth 
rate by a factor of two.

stretch goal

2X

Updated December 5, 2017

Think big
Industrial Development

▪ Expand value-added 
opportunities for at least 
3 resource bases

▪ Increase industrial 
readiness

Think SMALL
Business Development

▪ Grow jobs and 
profitability of existing 
businesses with special 
attention to those that 
create the highest 
economic output

Think Global
International Development

▪ Increase investment in 
Wyoming

▪ Increase international 
trade

Think NEW
Technology Development

▪ Wyoming is a technology 
center of the high plains

Think LOCAL
Community Development

▪ Increase livability of 
communities

 

strategies

▪ Increase jobs in 
advanced industries  
by 25%

▪ Increase average 
earnings per job by 10%

▪ Rank first in number of 
new business starts per 
1,000 employees

▪ Achieve 1-gigabit-per-
second internet service 
in 75% of municipalities

▪ Double number of 
patents awarded

▪ Grow technology to 
be the fourth largest 
economic sector

▪ Double SBIR grants 
awarded 

▪ Increase score on 
diversity index by 10%

▪ Increase total property 
and sales tax collections 
by 35%

▪ Rank in the top five for 
well-being

▪ Increase lodging and 
tourism related sales 
tax revenue generated 
by 35%

▪ Double foreign direct 
investment in Wyoming

▪ Increase Wyoming 
exports by 50%

TARGETS

GDP GROWTH

Key Initiativesbuilding blocks

Leadership/Civic Development 
& the Role of Public Policy

Wyoming communities leverage 
policies and partnerships in an 
efficient regulatory environment.

Infrastructure Development Wyoming is connected and business ready.

Workforce Development
Wyoming’s workforce is educated 
and ready for the future.

Quality of Life Wyoming’s communities are destinations 
where people want to live and work.

Entrepreneur Development
Wyoming’s entrepreneurs innovate, create, 
and compete in the global market.

Existing Business 
Development

Wyoming businesses are growing and thriving.

New Business Recruitment
Wyoming attracts world-class companies 
through its extensive networks.

What Drives us
We communicate and 

we are a team. 

We are flexible, collaborative  
and get the work done.

We work in an environment of  
integrity, support and pride. 

We make change happen
and we are leaders.



1111A-1Advisory Committees   - September 2018

ADVISORY COMMITTEES

SECTION A

September 5-6, 2018  .  Cody, Wyoming



Advisory Committees

September 6, 2018

CONTENTS

Market Development  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . A-3
National/International Trade & Investment  .  .  . A-4
Wyoming Products   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . A-4

Business Development  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . A-5
Business Recruitment  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . A-6
Sector Strategies   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . A-8

Community Development   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . A-9
Placemaking  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .  A-10
Community Review Process   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .  A-10
Housing Toolbox .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . A-10
Community Tourism Toolbox .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . A-11

Industrial Development .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . A-13
Business Development & Innovation Zones   . A-14
Opportunity Zones   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .  A-14
Upstream Oil & Gas Diversification   .   .   .   .   .   .  A-16 
Wind Energy Website .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .A-17
Kickstart Wyoming   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .  A-18



3333A-3Advisory Committees   - September 2018

MARKET
DEVELOPMENT

September 6, 2018  . Cody, Wyoming



4444
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-4

National/International Trade and Investment

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments/Goals  
1. Project Pacific (face-to-face visit in September). 
2. International trade rep on board (Approximately Sept. 1). 
3. Taiwan trade mission (late June-early July) - Brandon Marshall and Wyoming Malting. 
4. Market development manager hired (Will Hardin). 
5. Hire an international trade manager (expected to be filled by time of Cody Board meeting). 
6. Continue development/implementation of SF108 initiatives (quick wins and long-term goals). 

• Project Beef to Taiwan/trade mission (first week of October) 
• USDA-inspected regional meat processing plant study (how we're going to accomplish 20-year vision) 
• State-branded program redevelopment and deployment (File link)

7. Trade Show Incentive Grant program expansion  to include service companies ("Market Expansion Grant").  (File link)

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
1. Continued efforts on Project Pacific. 
2. International trade rep up and running. 
3. Continue development/implementation of SF108 initiatives (quick wins and long-term goals). 
4. Continue with STEP 6 plan. 
5. SHOT Show preparation 

Wyoming Products

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Goals/Accomplishments 
1.  Continue Grown in Wyoming/Made in Wyoming membership recruitment/program awareness efforts while planning for state-

branded program and website project. 
2. State Fair: Wyoming craft brewing "People's Choice Awards" event Friday, Aug. 17. 
3. State Fair: Wyoming Mercantile (Made in Wyoming) and state farmers market. 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 GOALS 
1. Continue Grown in Wyoming/Made in Wyoming membership recruitment/program awareness efforts while planning for state-

branded program and website project. 
2. Work with ENDOW Sustainable Harvest to communicate 20-year vision, and begin discussions about short-term wins, long-

term goals. 
3. Implement farm wall project?: On hold until back to full staff. 

https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/EYLbFyAnDrhDgVqyh_HbeUgBMPp9IM7_KRZVHBk2SzKkUw?e=5Esjp1
https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/EcH7xTQ5v6BNgBIzF6nUpCIBdmt_k8DA0gum8tTR7gnBCw?e=0fKtoN


5555A-5Advisory Committees   - September 2018

BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT

September 6, 2018  . Cody, Wyoming



6666
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-6

Current Quarter 
FY19 Q1 Accomplishments 
• Continued connection to companies contacted through sales funnel efforts.  

• Email marketing efforts, LinkedIn Connection (Will Hardin)  
• Picking up the phone   

• High-value targets, qualified leads, or connection to UW 
• 86 Prospect list sent to WEDA for contact and further marketing 

• Wind Energy Development – Recruitment efforts 
• Prospect follow-ups from WindPower Expo 

• Summer  Hosting 
• Hosted a new transportation manufacturing company in Cheyenne and Casper, July 2018 

• Continued SHOT Show prospect follow-ups
 
Looking Ahead 
FY19 Q2 Goals  
•   Filling Recruitment Manager Position 

• Job description approval this week, hiring before end of Quarter 1 
• IAMC Conference - Philadelphia 
• SHOT 2019 Planning 

• Splitting SHOT into two parts - existing companies (market development) vs. Recruitment 
• ROI Contract - Annual contract for prospecting  

• Scoping out the year - recruitment missions, as well as two trade shows 
• Successful attendance at CANWEA trade show 

• Goal of 5 new wind energy contacts 
• Follow-up with previous year contacts, and AWEA meeting follow-ups where available 

• Refresh of Funnel Concept 
• New strategies 
• Formalized timing for passing leads on to WEDA (or not) 
• New knowledge from recruitment manager. 

Business Recruitment



7777A-7Advisory Committees   - September 2018

Current Project Updates 
• Project Pumpkin - Transportation manufacturer - Casper & Cheyenne - Casper is working closely at this 

time, company is also beginning process of consultant search to decide if/where a site happens. 
• Machinery Manufacturing Company Relocation (Project Two Cities) – 30 initial jobs, expansion to 400 

in year 5 
• Aviation Interiors Manufacturing Facility (Project Aviate) -  19 jobs initially, 60 in year 5.   15,000 sft 

• Cheyenne LEADS is point of contact for company – no recent update. 
• Art and School Supply distribution company – 20 Jobs, 40,000 sft. 

• Project on-hold for one year. 
• German Industrial Equipment Manufacturer; seeking first US location 

• Planning 2018 visit - still in regular contact 
• Project Thunder – recreation transportation equipment manufacturer – major project – up to 2,000 

jobs (over five years), multiple 90k-120k square-foot facilities 
• Received regional proposals from communities 
• Held conference call with company representative in early March 
• WY presentation to company in April at HQ 
• Company will alert the WBC of status of project once subsidiaries have fully reviewed 

proposals. 
• Computing / Programming Center (Project Cloud) – Project has again delayed indefinitely. 
• Project Western - No Wyoming location being considered. 
• Project Ash - Large data center operator - Cheyenne only search, assisting leads.  Beginning 

approximately 14 MW - CoLocation Operator that we've had contact with for several years. 
• Project Alpha - Chemical Manufacturing - Very large multinational company.  Project is in planning 

stages - working with local EDO and companies to outline full project. 

Business Recruitment



8888
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-8

Sector Strategies

Current Quarter 
FY 2019 Q1 Accomplishments/Goals 
• Next Generation Sector Partnerships Framework 

• Continue to work with communities on launching their sector partnerships 
• Launches will be held end of August – November 2018 

• Begin technical/administrative assistance for partnerships 
• Business Retention and Expansion Strategies 

• Work with Partnerships on weaving BRE strategies into Next Gen Framework 
• Outdoor Recreation Industry 

• Continue to work with Tourism Toolkit Group and Outdoor Rec Subcommittee 
• Continue to work with ENDOW's Tourism/Outdoor Recreation Team 

 
Looking Ahead 
FY 2019 Q2 Goals 
• Next Generation Sector Partnerships Framework 

• Continue to work with communities on launching their sector partnerships 
• The majority of regional launches will occur in October/November 2018 

• Continue technical/administrative assistance for partnerships 
• Begin working with WWDC and Staff Support Team on future visioning of Next Gen in Wyoming 

• Business Retention and Expansion Strategies 
• Work with Partnerships on weaving BRE strategies into Next Gen Framework 

• Outdoor Recreation Industry 
• Begin to work with Tourism Toolkit Group's Outdoor Rec Subcommittee 
• Continue to work with ENDOW's Tourism/Outdoor Recreation Team 



9999A-9Advisory Committees   - September 2018

COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT

September 6, 2018  . Cody, Wyoming



10101010
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-10

Placemaking

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments 
• Goshen County – 6 hour deep dive course 
• Funded Cody Museum Play Area 
• Funded Ten Sleep Community Garden Placemaking  
• Rock Springs Putt Putt Golf opened – 1156 visitors signed up since June 2 
(See linked file for detailed examples)

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Hot Springs County Training 
• More Outreach to communities 
• Complete other training, as requested 
• Provide technical assistance for communities who have completed the training 
• Act as a conduit for placemaking projects and share ideas around the state. 
• Fund 3 projects  

Community Review Process

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments 
• Story, WY Review completed, Phase I report distributed 
• Ripple Effect mapping completed in Rawlins, Baggs, Green River, Cokeville 
• Completed Community Readiness Checklist 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Applications for fall reviews being accepted 
• Re-work application process 

Housing Toolbox

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments 
• Success Stories – WYFHOP – videotaping complete 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q12Goals 
• Statewide housing summary report w/ comparisons 
• Strategic Planning session with Community Builders – Aug. 22 
• Community Builders Leadership Institute in WY – Sept. 26-28 
• Neighborworks Team – Training Oct. 11 - 14 
• Education about importance of housing, issues, etc. 
• Success Stories – WYFHOP 

https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/EYZdIn9-KjdBpm0DD5NYkQwBD_xdpC69MFdz4LJDBD5oYQ?e=sOXpJ9


11111111A-11Advisory Committees   - September 2018

Community Tourism Toolbox

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments 
• Action Plan finalized 
• Visit Casper agreed to assist with Front-line training video 
• Meeting with, SPHS, WOT, WYDOT on statewide sign questions/request 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Micro-grant program to assist communities with community tourism projects 
• Educational materials for front-line training 
• Front-line training marketing plan  
• Sign plan with other state agencies  



12121212
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-12



13131313A-13Advisory Committees   - September 2018

INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT

September 6, 2018  . Cody, Wyoming



14141414
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-14

Business Development and Innovation Zones

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments/Goals 
• Updated 3-zone-type model based on ENDOW executive council revisions, discussions with DEQ, internal alignment 

• Regional Opportunity Areas, Industrial Focus Zones, Industrial Focus Zones 
• Pathways to zonehood 
• Pilot ICs, example IFZs 

• Facilitated feedback and council-wide consensus from the Executive Council on BDIZ criteria 
• Incorporate into August report 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Establish foundations in ROAs 
• Take first steps on the path to zonehood 
• Develop Action Plans and Applications for ICs and IFZs 

• Components: 
• Staffing, Resources, Funding, Application Process that leverages data from RA and communities 

• Involved: 
• State agency led, with input from communities 
• Process and applications approved by ENDOW 

Opportunity Zones

Background

Opportunity Zone Criteria 
Criteria for opportunity zones are the same as for New Market Tax Credits.  In general, they must be considered low income 
communities, meaning that they must be census tracts that have income at or lower than 80 percent of state median income or 
poverty greater than 20%. 

https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:p:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/EdqYfKmpMpVBlFR_nQAvCgUBSCLNzeiX81bUFcoKl5Px5Q?e=z4tGhl


15151515A-15Advisory Committees   - September 2018

For states with more than 100 low income census tracts, governors may designate up to 25 percent of the total number of low 
income census tracts.  For states with less than 100 low income census tracts, the governor can designate up to 25 tracts.  Wyoming 
has less than 100 qualifying tracts, so may designate up to 25 as Opportunity Zones. 

A population census tract that is not a low-income census tract may be designated as a qualified opportunity zone if the tract is 
contiguous with a low-income census tract that is designated as a qualified opportunity zone, and the median family income of the 
tract does not exceed 125 percent of the median family income of the low-income census tract with which the tract is contiguous. 
Not more than 5 percent of the population census tracts designated in a state as a qualified opportunity zone may be designated 
under this qualifying adjacent tract criteria. 

Designations are good for 10 years. 

Effects 
A taxpayer can defer capital gains taxes by reinvesting gains in a qualified opportunity zone fund. 

A qualified opportunity fund is any investment vehicle which is organized as a corporation or a partnership for the purpose of 
investing in qualified opportunity zone property that holds at least 90 percent of its assets in qualified opportunity zone property. 

Qualified opportunity zone property includes: 
• Property within an opportunity zone 
• Stock or equity in a qualified opportunity zone business 

A qualified opportunity zone business is a trade or business whose owned or leased property is in a qualified opportunity zone. 

Qualified opportunity funds can have other investments, but they will not qualify tax payers for the tax deferments. 

What's happened so far 

Opportunity Zones in Wyoming 
25 Wyoming Opportunity zones were certified by the U.S. treasury in May 2018. They offer a diverse portfolio of opportunity for 
investors. 

Opportunity Zones



16161616
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-16

See the interactive map with specific zones here. 
Wyoming Opportunity Zones by County 

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments/Goals 
• Opportunity Zones Overview 
• Publicize nominations 
• Work toward attracting investment to designated opportunity zones 
• Establish model for use in Wyoming 
• Hope to receive IRS guidance on how to use Opportunity Zones 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Work toward attracting investment to designated opportunity zones 
• Establish model for use in Wyoming 

Upstream Oil & Gas Diversification

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments/Goals 
• Education Energized severance reduction concept gathering momentum in ENDOW 
• UW graduate assistants working on economic analysis for this concept 
• Plan to meet with O&G execs, leveraging this discussion 

Opportunity Zones

http://www.wyomingbusiness.org/opportunityzones
https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:p:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/EaBVJX0V0VZJtpFBy0XVy9wB8wD57aT-n88GNLOg_It9fw?e=xNcYvQ
https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/EQYVWSzs_3VOmBIyGQHuDusBKI6X_UlhgS8VDTIN5doxTQ?e=HShfWJ


17171717A-17Advisory Committees   - September 2018

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Continue implementation of recruitment strategy starting with peers of prospective companies, continuous 
• Timeline: 

 Upstream Oil and Gas Recruiting Timeline

Wind Energy Website

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments/Goals 
• 23 companies and counting!  

http://wyomingbusiness.org/industry 
• 772 pageviews 

• 268 service companies 
• 327 company directory 

• Positive feedback from developers 
• Survey service companies 
• Develop timelines and RFP board 
• Launch timelines 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Launch RFP board 
• Continued promotion to developers, service companies and communities 
• Maintain and update timelines as new submissions are made 
• Track metrics of success 
• Expand to other industries 

Upstream Oil & Gas Diversification



18181818
Advisory Committees   - September 2018A-18

Kickstart Wyoming

Current Quarter 
FY19Q1 Accomplishments/Goals 
• Overview 
• Delivered July 1st Deliverables 

• Coordination of Business Permits 
• Startup-Wyoming Investments 

• Establish working model for startup pathways 
• Single point-of-entry 
• Services, mentorship, networking, events, facilities for lifestyle and high-growth companies 

• Adopt rules for SBIR phase I and II matching, Kickstart Grants, WYRIP Program (using emergency rules process) 
• Establish first iteration program processes (application, approvals, contracts, etc.) 
• Hire Startup Economy Coordinator 
• Convert non-profit to startup entity 

Looking Ahead 
FY19Q2 Goals 
• Go live with startup website 
• Develop action plans for Innovation Centers 

https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:p:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/EZbTiNG6M6RBklWEMpjG0toBjlh11zOFcSXreu_baGVz1Q?e=IO0sic
https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/Ecp5xYqhr5JFnYsPOWzJA3gBhVxhg24S_zg-rcHKsMlnCQ?e=h2bWfI
https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/ERlXaZvxI-lNj70QpVCcOFQB0Vy7Pvx4b1Fa4UZi0xZzjw?e=Nec92C


1111B-1Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   - September 2018

BUDGET AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

SECTION B

September 6, 2018  .  Cody, Wyoming





3333B-3Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   - September 2018

WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL
FY2018 Comments on Financial Statements
The year ended June 30, 2018 - UNAUDITED

Budget Summary 
• FY2018 is the second of two years in the 2017-18 biennium which started July 1, 2016.
• General Funds – the % of expenditures and encumbrances ended the quarter at 82% of budget.
• Federal Funds - the % of expenditures and encumbrances ended the quarter at 80% of budget.
• Primary Agency Funds - the % of expenditures and encumbrances ended the quarter at 84% of budget.
• Total Community Development/BRC/Mainstreet available funds per the Financial Statements as of 

06/30/2018 are $10.36 million. 
• Currently, the Business Ready Community Program has $6.03 million in projects approved by WBC 

board and SLIB but not yet encumbered; as those grants agreements become effective, they will be 
encumbered. The funds available for BRC projects is $5.23 million.

Available Cash Balances
• Economic Development fund has $32.80 million in cash after obligations; year-to-date receipts total $1.18 

million, which is comprised of principal and interest payments received on loans and investment income 
earned through the State Treasurer’s office on the cash in the fund.

• Rural Rehabilitation fund has $4.46 million in cash after obligations and year to date receipts of $105.8
thousand in investment income earned through the State Treasurer’s office on the cash in the fund.

Loans Receivable
• Total loans outstanding, net of allowances, are $25.40 million as of 06/30/2018; total principal and interest 

received since 7/1/2017 is $1.55 million.

Governor’s Office Funds

• The available cash balance in the petroleum violation escrow funds is $3.84 million.

Budgeted Expenditures

• Grants make up 68% of the budget, followed by non-operating expenses/loans of 18%.

Budgeted Expenditures

• Grant expense and encumbrance ended the fiscal year at 80% of the budget, due primarily to timing of 
grants.

• Non-operating expenses/loans and encumbrances ended the fiscal year at 84% of the budget, due
primarily to timing of loans.  



Learn more about Wyoming Business Council Financials at wyomingbusiness.org/boardbook.

FY2018 Balances

Learn more about Wyoming Business Council Financials at wyomingbusiness.org/boardbook.

 W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

Financial Update
BUDGET SUMMARY - ALL FUNDS  (BFY 17/18 appropriation)

Business Ready Community program has 
$6.03 million in projects approved but not 
encumbered, and $5.23 million in available 
funds.

Net Balance

Economic Disaster loans  $6,666,504  

Bridge loans   $71,751

Mainstreet loans   $20,507

Amendment IV loans  $84,741

Natural Gas 
Infrastructure loans   $229,889

WyoTech loan $4,900,000

BRC loans  $12,182,113

ARRA SEP loans $815,241

Unallocated allowance ($74,354)

TOTAL $25,396,392

Loans Receivable
Balances as of 6/30/18

FY 2018 - year to date for the period:  07/01/17 - 06/30/2018 OPTIMUM >>> 100%

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY  BUDGETED  EXPENDED   ENCUMBERED  BALANCE 
% EXPENDED & 
ENCUMBERED 

/BUDGETED

General Funds 

Business Development $1,423,117 $1,237,173 $56,803 $129,141 91%

Strategic Initiatives $3,817,254 $1,346,536 $2,368,873 $101,845 97%

Regional Offices $961,848 $824,844 $17,035 $119,969 88%

Community Development $425,923 $323,090 $1,330 $101,503 76%

Business Ready Communities $50,595,397 $18,382,658 $21,963,164 $10,249,575 80%

Main Street $547,863 $407,217 $136,381 $4,265 99%

Executive & Board of Directors $783,070 $675,292 $60,933 $46,845 94%

Performance & Planning $614,597 $562,733 $21,600 $30,264 95%

Communications & Marketing $445,137 $319,136 $5,540 $120,461 73%

Human Resources $268,867 $233,864 $18,040 $16,963 94%

Finance & Administration $717,555 $586,839 $70,100 $60,616 92%

$60,600,628 $24,899,382 $24,719,799 $10,981,447 82%

Federal Funds 

CDBG Program $5,847,415 $1,295,984 $3,779,178 $772,253 87%

State Energy 
Repurposed ARRA funds

$585,109 $140,096 $8,769 $436,244 25%

State Energy 
Conservation Program

$321,475 $220,842 $62,247 $38,386 88%

State Trade and Export 
Program (STEP)

$248,307 $81,338 $24,246 $142,723 43%

$7,002,306 $1,738,260 $3,874,440 $1,389,606 80%

Primary Agency Funds  (See Terms on back for descriptions)

Economic Loan  
Development and Large 
Projects (fund 039)

$13,582,513 $11,513,043 $97,471 $1,971,999 85%

Wyoming Business Council 
(fund 085)

$53,076 $33,685 $0 $19,391 63%

Rural Rehabilitation (fund 499) $317,890 $41,381 $0 $276,509 13%

$13,953,479 $11,588,109 $97,471 $2,267,899 84%

TOTAL $81,556,413 $38,225,751 $28,691,710 $14,638,952 82%

Governor’s Office 
Funds = $3,837,322
Petroleum Violation 
Escrows

Lyndsay Orr, CPA
Accounting Manager
lyndsay.orr@wyo.gov  |  307.777.2849

Avail. Cash Balance Year-to-date Receipts

  $32,802,611  $1,175,293 

 $258,428  $25,309  

 $4,456,838   $105,752



BUDGETED EXPENDITURES BY FUNDING SOURCE

LINE ITEM EXPENDITURE SUMMARY

TERMS
Budgeted  -  Year two of two in the biennium budget

Encumbered  -  Funds are committed for a specific purpose

Expended -  Funds have been spent

Federal Fund -  Department of Energy, Housing and Urban Development,  
            Commerce Funds

General Fund -  Appropriated by the Wyoming Legislature on a biennium budget

Agency Funds -  Special revenue funds that carry forward year to year 

039 Challenge Loan - Economic Development Loans

085 Shared with Tourism - selling Wyoming First Program and  

Tourism sales

499 Rural Rehab - Farm Home Administration Funding for  

rural development

LOANS
ARRA SEP loans -  for energy efficiency projects

BRC Loans -  from BRC to a public entity

Amendment IV Loans  - Pre-Challenge Loan Program

Bridge Loans  - Participation w/ bank 

Economic Development Loans  -  for industry disasters (excl. natural disasters)

Main Street Loans  - Participation w/ bank

Natural Gas Infrastructure  -  for Natural Gas Fueling Stations

Learn more about Wyoming Business Council Financials at wyomingbusiness.org/boardbook.

Lyndsay Orr, CPA
Accounting Manager
lyndsay.orr@wyo.gov  |  307.777.2849

6%

2%
0%

68%

18%

6%

Budgeted Expenditures by Funding Source

  Personal services

 Support services

  Central data services

  Grants

  Non-operating expenses

 Professional services

  Support
services

  Central
data

services
  Grants

  Non-
operating
expenses

Professional
services 

 Personal 
services

Balance $533,189 $246,477 $6,635 $11,101,064 $2,385,112 $366,474
Budget $4,712,325 $1,387,749 $72,226 $55,900,995 $14,854,085 $4,629,032

$4,712,325 $1,387,749 $72,226 $55,900,995 $14,854,085 $4,629,032 

$533,189 $246,477 $6,635 $11,101,064 $2,385,112 $366,474 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Line Item Expenditure Summary





COMMUNITY GRANT
AND LOAN COMMITTEE

SECTION C

Sept 5-6, 2018  .  Cody, Wyoming





Community Grant  
and Loan Committee

Report and Recommendations to the  
Wyoming Business Council

Sept 6, 2018

CONTENTS

BRC Financial Summary & Allocation Plan              C–5

City of Cody                                                C–7

Goshen Care Center JPB                                  C–11

City of Buffalo                                             C–15

City of Gillette                                             C–21

City of Powell                                             C–25

City of Sundance                                         C–29

Big Horn County                                          C–35

Addendum                                                 C–37





C-5Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

BUSINESS READY COMMUNITY OVERVIEW

BRC Application and Program Summary

Awards are contingent on the satisfactory execution and administration of previous grants or loans by an 
applicant.  Other contingencies, if any, are defined in the project descriptions.  The office of the Attorney 
General conducts a review of applications that are Business Committed, that have a loan component, or 
any extenuating circumstances. 

FY19 Q1 Allocation Plan

Project Type Request Staff 
Recommendation

Page 
Number

Gunwerks Grant Business Committed 3,000,000$        3,000,000$                    C-7
Gunwerks - Loan Business Committed 3,000,000$        3,000,000$                    C-7
Evergreen Plaza Assisted Living Business Committed 3,000,000$        3,000,000$                    C-11
Tech Park - balance of request CD - Readiness 800,000$           -$                                   C-15
Fiber Improvement Resubmit CD - Readiness 1,440,256$        -$                                   C-21
Powell Conference Center CD - Readiness 2,623,724$        2,623,724$                    C-25
Old Stoney Restoration Shortfall CD - Readiness 300,000$           300,000$                        C-29
Antelope Butte Mtn Recreation Area CD - Enhancement 185,600$           185,600$                        C-35

14,349,580$      12,109,324$                  Total Requests

3. Buffalo, City of
4. Gillette, City of
5. Powell, City of
6. Sundance, City of
7. Big Horn County

2. Goshen Care JPB

BRC Applications Received June 1, 2018

Applicant

1. Cody
1. Cody

Applicant Project Type
 Amount 

Requested 
Available 
Allocation

Option 1 - 
Fund BC w/in 

allocation (90%)

Option 2
Fully fund BC 

Option 3
Fund staff recs

Business Committed-grant 3,000,000$          2,700,000$            3,000,000$      3,000,000$         
Business Committed-loan 3,000,000$          2,700,000$            3,000,000$      3,000,000$         

Goshen Care JPB Assisted Living Business Committed-grant 3,000,000$          2,700,000$            3,000,000$      3,000,000$         
Buffalo, City of Tech Park Comm Dev (Readiness) 1,844,410$          -$                             -$                       -$                          
Gillette, City of Fiber Improvements Comm Dev (Readiness) 1,440,256$          -$                             -$                       -$                          
Powell, City of Conference Center Comm Dev (Readiness) 2,623,724$          -$                             -$                       2,623,724$         
Sundance, City of Old Stoney Comm Dev (Readiness) 300,000$             -$                             -$                       300,000$             
Big Horn County Antelope Butte Comm Dev (Enhancement) 185,600$             -$                             -$                       185,600$             
Cowley, Town of Community Center Comm Dev (Enhancement) 230,405$             -$                             -$                       -$                          

Planning -$                          51,050$                   -$                             -$                       -$                          
TOTAL REQUEST 15,624,395$       8,082,953$             8,100,000$            9,000,000$      12,109,324$       

(17,047)$                (917,047)$        (4,026,371)$        

Cody, City of Gunwerks
5,173,951$             

2,857,952$             



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-6

Project Type Percentage
Base Quarterly 

Allocation
Carry Forward from 

Previous Quarter
Total Available Fund BC @ 90%

Borrow/Carry - 
Next Quarter

Business Committed 45% 2,297,264$             2,876,687$                      5,173,951$        5,173,951$          
Community Development 54% 2,756,716$             101,236$                          2,857,952$        2,857,952$          
Planning 1% 51,050$                   -$                                       51,050$              68,097$               17,047$                 
TOTALS 100% 5,105,030$             2,977,923$                      8,082,953$        8,100,000$          17,047$                 

Project Type Percentage
Base Quarterly 

Allocation
Carry Forward from 

Previous Quarter
Total Available

Borrow/Carry - 
Next Quarter

Business Committed 45% 2,297,264$             2,297,264$        
Community Development 54% 2,756,716$             2,756,716$        
Planning 1% 51,050$                   (17,047)$                           34,003$              
TOTALS 100% 5,105,030$             (17,047)$                          5,087,983$        

Project Type Percentage
Base Quarterly 

Allocation
Carry Forward from 

Previous Quarter
Total Available Fund BC @ 100%

Borrow/Carry - 
Next Quarter

Business Committed 45% 2,297,264$             2,876,687$                      5,173,951$        5,173,951$          
Community Development 54% 2,756,716$             101,236$                          2,857,952$        3,723,949$          865,997$               
Planning 1% 51,050$                   -$                                       51,050$              102,100$             51,050$                 
TOTALS 100% 5,105,030$             2,977,923$                      8,082,953$        9,000,000$          917,047$               

Project Type Percentage
Base Quarterly 

Allocation
Carry Forward from 

Previous Quarter
Total Available

Borrow/Carry - 
Next Quarter

Business Committed 45% 2,297,264$             2,297,264$        
Community Development 54% 2,756,716$             (865,997)$                        1,890,719$        
Planning 1% 51,050$                   (51,050)$                           -$                         
TOTALS 100% 5,105,030$             (917,047)$                        4,187,983$        

Project Type Percentage
Base Quarterly 

Allocation
Carry Forward from 

Previous Quarter
Total Available

Staff 
Recommends

Borrow/Carry - 
Next Quarter

Business Committed 45% 2,297,264$             2,876,687$                      5,173,951$        9,000,000$          (1,218,605)$          
Community Development 54% 2,756,716$             101,236$                          2,857,952$        3,109,324$          (2,756,716)$          
Planning 1% 51,050$                   -$                                       51,050$              -$                          (51,050)$                
TOTALS 100% 5,105,030$             2,977,923$                      8,082,953$        12,109,324$       (4,026,371)$          

Project Type Percentage
Base Quarterly 

Allocation
Carry Forward from 

Previous Quarter
Total Available

Borrow/Carry - 
Next Quarter

Business Committed 45% 2,297,264$             (1,218,605)$                     1,078,659$        
Community Development 54% 2,756,716$             (2,756,716)$                     -$                         
Planning 1% 51,050$                   (51,050)$                           -$                         
TOTALS 100% 5,105,030$             (4,026,371)$                     1,078,659$        

FY19 Qtr 2 - Option 3

FY19 Qtr 1 - Option 1

FY19 Qtr 2 - Option 1

FY19 Qtr 1 - Option 2

FY19 Qtr 2 - Option 2

FY19 Qtr 1 - Option 3



C-7Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program 

CITY OF CODY 
GUNWERKS MANUFACTURING 

FACILITY 

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$3,000,000 BRC Business Committed  
Grant and $3,000,000 BRC Loan 

Staff Recommendation: Fund as requested

Project Description
The city of Cody requests a $3 million Business Ready Community 
(BRC) Business Committed grant and a $3 million BRC loan to 
construct a 36,080 square-foot manufacturing facility for the 
expansion of Gunwerks firearms production. The proposed facility 
will incorporate 6,600 square feet of warehouse space, 19,000 
square feet of manufacturing, 1,500 of retail space and 9,000 
square feet of office space. The building will be built on five acres 
purchased by Gunwerks and valued at $265,000, on the north side 
of Cody. The building will be situated on the property to allow for 
future expansion. Forward Cody, the local economic development 
organization, will own the building and the land (via a warranty 
deed). Gunwerks will lease the building and land from Forward Cody 
and the land value and lease payments will be credited towards the 
future purchase.

The Business
Gunwerks was launched in Burlington, Wyoming in 2008. The 
business was founded by Aaron Davidson, CEO and Mike Davidson, 
Director of Manufacturing Operations, both are passionate about 
developing a precision shooting system. The business designs and 
manufactures high precision long range shooting systems including 
the rifle, optics, rangefinder and ammunition. Gunwerks also offers 
a series of training programs for long range shooters at a location 
in Burlington and other locations around Cody. The training classes 
are typically one day but there are three levels of training to provide 
customers the opportunity to gain experience and a comfort 
level with their rifle. The business markets their shooting systems 
internationally.  

The business is currently located at 2301 Lt. Childers St., which is 
11,500 square feet and was adapted from the building’s original use 
a business incubator. This project will allow Gunwerks to vertically 
integrate and build their own rifle components. The expanded 
workspace will allow for upgraded equipment to better fulfill the 
needs of the business and its customers. 



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-8

Project Goals and Public Benefits
• Creation of 52 jobs with benefits package by end of Year 5.

• Increase payroll over $3,000,000 by the end of Year 5.

• Retain 58 current positions.

•  Provide the business an opportunity for consolidation and possible relocation of corporate officers 
from Salt Lake City.

• The fourth company in Cody to employ over 100 people in the manufacturing industry. 

•  Over $5 million in capital investment by Gunwerks in new equipment to meet the needs of their 
customer base.

• Increase in value added Wyoming products, manufactured and built in Cody.

Lease and Loan Recapture
Forward Cody will own the building and will lease it to Gunwerks on a triple-net basis for the rates shown 
in the table below. Lease payments will cover the debt service. Gunwerks will have option to purchase the 
building between years 6 and 20. 

Term Annual Lease Rate
Years 1-5 $154,416
Years 6-10 $169,858
Years 11-15 $186,843
Years 16-20 $205,528
Total $3,583,225

$17,127 

Monthly Payment              
Lease Payment Schedule

$12,868 
$14,155 
$15,570 

The city of Cody is requesting $3,000,000 BRC loan 
to match the grant funds. The loan will be amortized 
over 30 years at a rate of 1.5%. The loan will add 
$124,917 in interest payment to the WBC account 
over the life of the loan. The loan will be personally 
guaranteed by Gunwerks officers. After the loan 
payment has been paid, any surplus lease payment 
funds will be used in the Forward Cody Economic 
Development fund.
Cost estimates were prepared by Point Architects 
and the building cost per square foot is $173.64.

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends funding as requested contingent 
upon the business securing the necessary 
equipment financing.

Attorney General Opinion
Pending 

BRC amount 3,000,000$  
Cash Match (BRC Loan) 3,000,000$  
In-Kind Match 265,000$     
Total eligible project cost 6,265,000$  
BRC % of total eligible project costs 48%
Local % of total eligible project costs 52%

Land Acquisition Costs
Land (In-Kind Match) 265,000$     
Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 358,000$     
Other fees (surveys, tests, etc.) 7,500$         
Project inspection fees 10,000$       

Site work 871,200$     
Building Components:
  Electrical Systems 285,950$     
  Mechanical, plumbing, HVAC systems 304,192$     
  Landscaping 35,000$       
  Foundation and/or Structural Framing system 2,829,048$  
  Interior Finishes 782,000$     
  Fire Protection 145,158$     
Contingencies (7%) 371,952$     
Total Uses 6,265,000$  

Sources

Uses

Construction Costs



C-9Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Project Overview

Purpose

Description BRC
BRC Loan In-Kind

Land 265,000$        
Non-Construction Costs 187,750$      187,750$         -$                
Construction Costs 2,812,250$   2,812,250$      -$                
Total Project Cost 3,000,000$   3,000,000$      265,000$        

48%
Quantity

1
2.15%
3,124,918$      

 $7,735 (WBC)              
$29,498 (Local) 

40,040$           
60,363$           

52
58

5,034,600$      
5

36,080
173.64$           

City of Cody - Gunwerks
The city of Cody is requesting $3,000,000 Business Ready Community (BRC) Business Committed grant 
funds and $3,000,000 BRC loan funds to construct a 36,080 square foot manufacturing facility for the 
expansion of Gunwerks firearms production. The proposed facility will incorporate 6,600 square feet of 
warehouse space, 19,000 square feet of manufacturing, 1,500 of retail space and 9,000 square feet of office 
space. 

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

265,000$                                    
375,500$                                    

5,624,500$                                 
6,265,000$                                 

Percentage BRC of all cash:
Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes
Businesses Assisted Gunwerks
Return on Investment
Loan Repayment
Revenue Recapture Increases by 10% every five years

County Median Wage
Median Wage of Jobs Created Median wage at Year 5
Jobs to be Created (5 Year Projection)
Jobs to be Retained Number of employees at project start
Additional Investment Equipment purchase over 5 years

Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed Gunwerks land purchase and In-Kind match
New Building Construction Square feet
Cost/Square foot





C-11Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

GOSHEN CARE CENTER  
JOINT POWERS BOARD

EVERGREEN PLAZA ASSISTED LIVING

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$3,000,000 BRC Business  
Committed Grant 

Staff Recommendation: Fund as requested

Project Description
The Goshen Care Center Joint Powers Board (JPB) requests a  
$3 million Business Ready Community (BRC) Business Committed 
grant to construct a 23,980 square-foot 30-unit assisted living facility 
on a 3-acre site in Torrington.  The city of Torrington owns the 
property and has donated it to the JPB for this project.  The JPB has 
secured a loan for the completion of the project.  The facility will 
be leased to Welcov Healthcare to operate and maintain.  Welcov 
currently operates the Goshen Healthcare Community and Evergreen 
Court Living Centers.   The project will meet the demand for assisted 
living as identified in market studies done in 2012 and 2018.  Seniors 
will have the opportunity to continue living in Goshen County where 
they might otherwise have to seek assisted living in Nebraska or 
other communities.  The project will also provide employment 
opportunities in Torrington versus those who would commute for 
those jobs.

Healthcare was the fastest growing economic sector in Goshen 
County at 78% between 2010 and 2014 and is the leading 
employer in Goshen County.  The expanded level of care for seniors 
will promote a continuum of care which will complement the 



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-12

independent living with assistance at the adjacent Evergreen Court, and skilled nursing and memory care 
at the Goshen Healthcare Center.  The JPB and Welcov propose a total of 15 FTE jobs will be created as a 
result of this project. 

Cost estimates were prepared by GSG Architecture and the cost per square-foot is $224.

The Business
Welcov Healthcare is one of the nation’s largest providers of senior care with 62 skilled nursing, assisted 
living, and independent living communities, along with home health agencies throughout Minnesota, 
South Dakota, Montana, Iowa, Nebraska, and Wyoming.    In 2014, Welcov entered into a five-year lease 
agreement (with five-year renewal options) with the Goshen Care Center JPB to operate and manage the 
Goshen Care Center and Alzheimer’s Unit in Torrington.  With the expansion of the Goshen Care Center 
dining room and kitchen funded through a BRC grant and loan in 2015, a total of 23 full-time equivalent 
(FTE) jobs were created.  To date the Goshen Care Center employs 84 FTE employees.  Welcov’s current 
lease for the Goshen Care Center expires August 1, 2019.

Project Goals and Public Benefits
• Job creation, 15 FTEs;

• Affordable housing options for seniors;

• Potential for single-family homes for workforce housing vacated by seniors;

• Project supports a population of up to 37 senior residents;

•  $64,834 per person per year savings to the 
Wyoming Medicaid program:

•  In a year’s time Welcov admits approximately 
120 people to the Goshen Care Center, a skilled 
nursing facility (SNF). Estimating that 75% (or 
90 residents) will require Medicaid, that is a 
cost of $5,814,450 to the State of Wyoming. 
At least five residents could have been placed 
in an assisted living facility (AL) which would 
have opened up SNF beds for higher need 
residents. For every year that a resident remains 
in assisted living versus skilled nursing facility, 
the resident saves $40,150.  With the resident 
spenddown of personal savings in AL, it lessens 
the burden on the pending liability to the state 
which equates to $64,834 per person per year 
to the Wyoming Medicaid program.

•  The project supports $325,701 in property and 
sales tax to Torrington each year;

•  Nearly $3.8 million of capital investment (private 
financing of $3 million - $868, 320 cash-match 
by JPB);

•  $732k in private financing back to WBC for 
pay-off of BRC loan for the Goshen Care Center 
project.

BRC amount 3,000,000$  
Cash Match 3,768,320$  
In-Kind Match 100,000$     
Total eligible project cost 6,868,320$  
BRC % of total eligible project costs 44%
Local % of total eligible project costs 56%

Land Value Costs
Land Value 100,000$     
Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 491,278$     
Other fees (surveys, tests, etc.) 15,000$       
Project inspection fees 35,000$       

Site work 120,000$     
Demolition and removal 10,000$       
Building Components:
  Electrical Systems 866,456$     
  Mechanical, plumbing, HVAC systems 1,629,895$  
  Landscaping 90,000$       
  Foundation and/or Structural Framing system 1,453,063$  
  Interior Finishes 905,348$     
  Fire Protection 129,161$     
  Remediation 40,000$       
 General Conditions 260,467$     
Insurance, bonds, permits, mobilization, weather 
protection 262,130$     
Contingencies (7%) 460,522$     
Total Uses 6,868,320$  

Sources

Uses

Construction Costs



C-13Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Revenue Recapture
Welcov Healthcare will lease and operate the facility on behalf of the JPB.  Lease payments will service the 
debt. The WBC will recapture a total of $9,570 of total net revenues after debt service. There will be an 
additional $8,743 recaptured from the Goshen Care Center Kitchen Expansion project that was previously 
funded through a BRC Business Committed grant and loan. This amount will be applied to this project after 
the revenue recapture has been fulfilled for the previous project.  

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends funding as requested. The project was originally proposed with a $3 million loan 
component which was ultimately secured through local banks.  As the loan is integral to the completion 
of the project, staff further recommends grant funding be contingent upon the loan being secured. Staff 
understands Welcov Healthcare is exploring raising wages for jobs created from a median wage of $15.39 
per hour to the County median wage of $16.77 per hour.  

Attorney General Opinion
Pending 

Project Overview

Purpose

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Land -$                 -$                           100,000$                 
Non-Construction Costs 239,917$     301,361$               -$                        
Construction Costs 2,760,083$  3,466,959$            -$                        
Total Project Cost 3,000,000$  3,768,320$            100,000$                 

44%
Quantity

1
64,500$                 

16.77$                   
15.39$                   

15
206,500$               

3.45
23,980

Goshen Care Center JPB Evergreen Court Assisted Living Project
The Goshen Care Center Joint Powers Board (GCC JPB) requests a $3 million-dollar grant to construct a 23,980 square-
foot 30-unit assisted living facility on a 3-acre site in Torrington.

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

100,000$                               
541,278$                               

6,227,042$                            
6,868,320$                            

Percentage BRC of all cash:
Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes
Businesses Assisted
Revenue Recapture
County Median Wage
Median Wage of Jobs Created
Jobs to be Created (3 Year Projection)
Additional Investment Furniture, fixtures & equipment

Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed
New Building Construction





C-15Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

CITY OF BUFFALO 
TECH PARK 

BALANCE REQUEST

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$800,000 BRC Community  
Development- Readiness Grant

Staff Recommendation: Do not fund

Project Description
The city of Buffalo originally requested $1,844,410 in Business Ready 
Community (BRC) Community Development Readiness funds.  This 
represented the balance of funds not awarded for the Buffalo Tech 
Park Phase I project.  The original project request was $2,844,410. 
(See original project description attached.)  The project was partially 
funded ($1,000,000) by the State Loan and Investment Board at their 
January 2018 meeting. 

Recent bids on the project were favorable. Water, sewer and 
road sub-grade can be completed for $451,756. Paving bids (with 
asphalt or concrete) with curb and gutter range from $932,662 
to $1,188,623. Therefore, the city has reduced their request from 
$1,844,410 to $800,000. 

Staff Recommendation
Staff does not recommend funding at this time. The current funding 
will ready the project area for additional development sufficient 
to demonstrate readiness to interested parties. Additionally, only 
$33,000 of the current award has been drawn to date.



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-16



C-17Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

23State Loan and Investment Board   -  January 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program 

CITY OF BUFFALO

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$2,844,410 BRC Community Readiness Request

Buffalo Technology Business Park
WBC Recommendation: Do not fund

Project Description

The city of Buffalo requests a $2,844,410 Community Readiness 
Grant for road and utility infrastructure to develop the Buffalo Tech-
nology Business Park.  The project consists of two phases totaling ap-
proximately 104 acres.  Funds will be used for Phase I development 
of approximately 50 acres.  

The site is located near the intersection of interstates 25 and 90 in 
Buffalo.  TW Road, which runs adjacent to the proposed site, will 
be re-developed through an Industrial Road Project (IRP) funding 
between Johnson County and the Wyoming Department of Trans-
portation.  Construction of this project has begun with completion 
anticipated in late 2018.

Project Goals and Public Benefit

Buffalo does not currently have this type of property to market and 
develop.  The proposed site has access to four separate feeds from 
two different power companies, totaling 100-megawatts of power, 
water, sewer, and available redundant fiber.  

Phase I of this project will create approximately 16 acres (2-3 lots) 
of light industrial shovel-ready lots, and 26 acres (4-5 lots) of office/
technology shovel-ready lots.  By developing these lots, the city and 
county may benefit through the creation of new jobs and businesses.  

This project was the subject of a comprehensive feasibility study 
which focused on the development of a business park within the 
Buffalo area. The study focused on this city-owned land which once 
served as the city’s wastewater treatment lagoons and have now 
been reclaimed.  

Previous SLIB materials, Jan. 2018



State Loan and Investment Board   -  January 201824

Recent studies which identified this area for use as a business technology park include:

• Buffalo Corridor Tech Park Plan – 2015 (BRC Planning Project)

• Kaycee-Buffalo-Johnson Co ED JPB Eastern Corridor Tech Park Study – 2015 (BRC Planning Project)

• New Growth Alliance Plan – 2016

• City of Buffalo – Infrastructure and Site Readiness Assessment for the Recruitment of High Tech or Data 
Center Companies – 2013 (Joe Sharkey/TMGN) 

Revenue Recapture

Revenue recaptured through the sale of lots will be placed in an economic development account, and will 
be designated and used for future economic development purposes within the city.  Funds will be managed 
through JOCO 1st (formerly Kaycee-Buffalo-Johnson Co ED JPB).  From these funds, 25% will be allocated to 
the WBC up to the value of the grant award.

Timeline

Completion of Phase I is anticipated by the spring of 2019.

Funding

Total project cost is $8,307,043, of which $2,844,410 
represents the BRC grant.  The grant is matched by a 
cash match of $78,947 from Johnson County for the 
construction of a portion of the TW Road IRP funding 
which ties into the park, and in-kind match of $375,000 in 
land value from the city of Buffalo, and $5,008,686 from 
Johnson County and WYDOT for construction of TW Road.

WBC Deliberation

Project representatives (Mike Johnson, Buffalo Mayor, Tom Knapp, former Mayor of Kaycee, Randy Dyess, 
JOCO 1st Board member and Dave Simonsen, JOCO 1st Executive Director) spoke about not being able to 
compete for Project Enterprise, as they did not have developed land available.   They completed planning 
with BRC-funded plans.  The available funding for the road project is a benefit to the community, as it helps 
them with their match.  Should the project not be funded, it will be some time before the community 
would be able to provide the required match.   The project will benefit other communities such as Kaycee.  

 A project proponent requested that funds be made contingent on the next biennium’s funding.  The Board 
inquired about using future funding and CEO Reese indicated that was not done in the past and he did not 
think it could be done.  

Buffalo indicated it could still make the project work at the reduced amount of $2.1 million.  

The Board asked staff if the project was not funded could it be re-submitted?  Staff indicated it could.  Staff 

BRC amount 2,844,410$  
Cash Match 78,947$       
In-Kind Match (Land Value; road work) 5,383,686$  
Total eligible project cost 8,307,043$  
BRC % of total eligible project costs 34%
Local % of total eligible project costs 66%

Land Costs
Land - Value 375,000$     
Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 450,654$     
Other fees (Environmental Study) 45,000$       
Project inspection fees 363,610$     

Site work 6,738,219$  
Contingencies (4%) 334,560$     
Total Uses 8,307,043$  

Sources

Uses

Construction Costs

Previous SLIB materials, Jan. 2018



C-19Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Previous SLIB materials, Jan. 2018

25State Loan and Investment Board   -  January 2018

also indicated the portion of the match that is the investment in road improvements will continue to be 
eligible as in-kind match.  

Funding remaining for Community Readiness in the allocation plan totals $365,567.  Mr. Easley moved to 
approve the project in the amount of $365,567. 

The Board asked if the applicant could accept that amount.  They indicated they could not.  

Motion died for lack of a second.

The WBC Board voted unanimously to accept staff recommendation to not fund the project.

WBC Recommendation

WBC does not recommend funding due to lack of funding in the Community Readiness category, as grant 
funds were utilized on higher priority projects according to the allocation plan adopted by Wyoming 
Business Council Board in 2016.

Project Overview

Purpose

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Land -$                 -$                           375,000$                 
Non-Construction Costs 614,520$     17,056$                 227,688$                 
Construction Costs 2,229,890$  61,891$                 4,780,998$              
Total Project Cost 2,844,410$  78,947$                 5,383,686$              

97%
50

3,320 lf
3,506 lf
3,600 lf

Buffalo Technology Business Park
The city of Buffalo requests $2,844,410 BRC Community Readiness grant funds for road and utility infrastructure to 
develop the Buffalo Technology Business Park. Funds will be used for Phase I development of approximately 50 acres.

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

375,000$                               
-$                                           
-$                                           

375,000$                               
Percentage BRC of all cash:

Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed
Water
Sewer 
Road

SLIB Decision 

____________________________________________________________________________________

25State Loan and Investment Board   -  January 2018

also indicated the portion of the match that is the investment in road improvements will continue to be 
eligible as in-kind match.  

Funding remaining for Community Readiness in the allocation plan totals $365,567.  Mr. Easley moved to 
approve the project in the amount of $365,567. 

The Board asked if the applicant could accept that amount.  They indicated they could not.  

Motion died for lack of a second.

The WBC Board voted unanimously to accept staff recommendation to not fund the project.

WBC Recommendation

WBC does not recommend funding due to lack of funding in the Community Readiness category, as grant 
funds were utilized on higher priority projects according to the allocation plan adopted by Wyoming 
Business Council Board in 2016.

Project Overview

Purpose

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Land -$                 -$                           375,000$                 
Non-Construction Costs 614,520$     17,056$                 227,688$                 
Construction Costs 2,229,890$  61,891$                 4,780,998$              
Total Project Cost 2,844,410$  78,947$                 5,383,686$              

97%
50

3,320 lf
3,506 lf
3,600 lf

Buffalo Technology Business Park
The city of Buffalo requests $2,844,410 BRC Community Readiness grant funds for road and utility infrastructure to 
develop the Buffalo Technology Business Park. Funds will be used for Phase I development of approximately 50 acres.

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

375,000$                               
-$                                           
-$                                           

375,000$                               
Percentage BRC of all cash:

Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed
Water
Sewer 
Road

SLIB Decision 

____________________________________________________________________________________

APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY FOR THE AMOUNT OF FUNDING OF $1,000,000 AS 
RECOMMENDED BY WBC, JANUARY 18, 2018.

Purpose

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Land -$                 -$                           375,000$                 
Non-Construction Costs 614,520$     17,056$                 227,688$                 
Construction Costs 2,229,890$  61,891$                 4,780,998$              
Total Project Cost 2,844,410$  78,947$                 5,383,686$              

97%
Quantity
multiple

TBD

TBD

50
3,320 linear-feet
3,506 linear-feet
3,600 linear-feet

Buffalo Technology Business Park
The City of Buffalo requests a $2,844,410 Community Readiness Grant for road and utility infrastructure to develop the 
Buffalo Technology Business Park.  The project consists of two phases totaling approximately 104 acres.  Funds will be 
used for Phase I development of approximately 50 acres.

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

375,000$                               
859,264$                               

7,072,779$                            
8,307,043$                            

Percentage BRC of all cash:
Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes
Businesses Assisted Light industrial & tech related businesses
Return on Investment

Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed Phase I development.  Total site is 104-acres
Water
Sewer 
Road

Revenue Recapture 25% of the revenue from the sale of lots will be 
returned to the WBC up to the grant amount.  The 
remaining revenue recaptured will be used for 
future economic development purposes within the 
city of Buffalo 

Additional Investment Buffalo is providing approximately 250 feet of 
additional water-pipe to site.  Johnson County and 
the City of Buffalo are investing in additional road 
construction to tie into the WYDOT TW Road 
construction project that is under construction.





C-21Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

CITY OF GILLETTE 
FIBER IMPROVEMENT PROJECT

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$1,440,256 BRC Community  
Development – Readiness Grant

Staff Recommendation: Do not fund

Project Description
The city of Gillette requests a $1,440,256 Business Ready Community 
(BRC) Community Development Readiness grant to fund expansion 
of fiber infrastructure. The project will add over 11 miles of 
new infrastructure installation (blue lines on map), complete 
approximately 119 miles of raceway infrastructure (black lines on 
map) and 5 backhaul loops to commercial and industrial zones across 
the city. 

Project activities include the installation of underground multi-
raceway (7-way) fiber conduits to create fiber backhaul transmission 
loops. Gillette intends to lease individual raceways to internet 
service providers (ISPs) with the purpose of providing competitive 
broadband services to the business community. While some capacity 
will include current use (city government, hospital, etc.) more than 
half of the conduit will be available for lease.  



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-22

A 2015 BRC-funded broadband study assessed the community’s need for broadband capabilities.  The 
initial phase of a long-term community plan included increasing economic growth and diversification 
through connectivity. The next phase developed a strategic plan for the fiber layout design, and the final 
phase is to install the fiber infrastructure.   Approvals for placing conduit in Wyoming Department of 
Transportation rights-of-way are secured.

The Fiber Improvement Project is the result of requests from local ISPs and businesses wishing to construct, 
through a grant from the WBC, a lower-cost, competitive alternative to existing broadband resources and 
infrastructure in and around Gillette.  The project will lead to additional infrastructure for the deployment 
of competitive broadband services for local businesses and public entities.

Some businesses have short- and long-term plans to grow their presence in the community; a lower-cost, 
competitive alternative to existing broadband resources will shorten the timeline to accomplish these 
goals. Prospective businesses may be deterred from purchasing a business or a property due to the lack of 
these alternatives. 

Project Goals and Public Benefits
• High-quality jobs

• Industry diversification

• Additional tax revenues 

•  Expanding Gillette’s fiber network system to support existing and future business development 
needs

•  Acquiring, installing, and developing $1.67 million in fiber infrastructure improvements to provide a 
lower-cost, competitive alternative existing broadband resources.

Revenue Recapture
The revenue recaptured to the BRC program 
from this project is approximately $5,850 
annually. The recapture amount is expected 
to increase over time due ISP’s leasing more 
conduit space.  

Staff Recommendation
Staff does not recommend funding.  The state 
is presently developing a statewide plan and 
a grant funding program for underserved and 
unserved areas.  Additionally, a Broadband Advisory Council was recently appointed and a Broadband 
Coordinator hired.  Staff believes there should be advice from the broadband enhancement plan or the 
advisory council regarding the appropriate use of, application process, and prioritization of Business Ready 
Community funds for broadband projects in light of other broadband funds.  

BRC amount 1,440,256$  
Cash Match 360,064$     
Total eligible project cost 1,800,320$  
BRC % of total eligible project costs 80%
Local % of total eligible project costs 20%

  Underground conduit installation 1,800,320$  
Total Uses 1,800,320$  

Sources

Uses
Construction Costs



C-23Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Project Overview

Purpose

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Construction Costs 1,440,256$  360,064$               -$                
Total Project Cost 1,440,256$  360,064$               -$                    

80%
Quantity

28.5%
41

6,900$                   
11.18 miles

119
5

Gillette Fiber Improvement Project
The city of Gillette requests $1,440,256 Business Ready Community (BRC) Community Readiness 
grant to help fund expansion of fiber infrastructure to commercial and industrial zones around the city. 
Project activities include the installation of underground multi-raceway (7-way) fiber conduits to 
create Fiber Backhaul Transmission Loops.

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

1,800,320$       
1,800,320$       

Percentage BRC of all cash:
Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes
Return on Investment System utilization
Internet Service Provider connections (ISP) Connections to backhaul
Revenue Recapture Annual payments over 241 years

System Redundancy

Project 
Infrastructure

Fiber conduit installation
Raceway Miles Leaseable Infrastructure
Backhaul Loops





C-25Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

CITY OF POWELL 
POWELL CONFERENCE  

CENTER 

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$2,623,724 Community  
Development – Readiness Grant

Staff Recommendation: Fund as requested

Project Description
The city of Powell requests $2,623,724 Business Ready Community 
(BRC) Community Development Readiness funds to construct a 
10,000 square-foot conference and community center adjacent to a 
privately financed 70-80-room lodging facility. The conference center 
will have the capacity to hold 200-250 people and will contain a 
commercial kitchen. The facility will be constructed in the Gateway 
West Business Park which was developed with BRC funds in 2005. 
The park is currently privately owned. The conference center will be 
owned by the city of Powell and leased to the lodging facility. The 
adjacent lodging facility will operate and maintain the facility.

Stephen Wahrlich, a private developer has been selected to 
construct the Best Western Plus Clocktower Inn of Powell. Wahrlich 
owns a 126-room lodging facility in Billings, MT and a lodging facility 
in northern California. He secured two acres of land and has an 
agreement to secure another two acres in the same location from a 
Powell citizen. 

This project is a public-private partnership that will invest nearly $9 
million in Powell and increase Powell’s room capacity by 50%. This 
lodging and conference center will be the only attached hotel and 



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-26

conference location in Powell.  There are three other larger spaces to service events in Powell, but none of 
them offer the opportunity to stay in the same location. 

Project Goals and Public Benefits
• Job creation including livable wage jobs

•  Increased local spending, especially between the months of September and May

• Increased capacity for hosting events

• Increases in property tax and sales tax revenues

•  Nearly $9 million of capital investment (Approximately $6 million of private investment in the 
lodging facility and the BRC funds)

•  After 5 years, creation of 30 jobs with approximately 1/3 of those being livable wage jobs in Park 
County

•  Tourism is an economic driver in Powell and Park County. The lodging and conference center facility 
will accommodate the tourism industry year-round. The facility will increase tax revenues locally 
and to the state. 

•  Increased number of conferences in both the new facility and existing meeting space facilities in the 
on (May – August) and off (September – April) seasons.

• Increased lodging tax revenue and 50% increase of available rooms in Powell.

Lease and Revenue Recapture
The city of Powell will lease the conference facility to the 
lodging facility. The Clocktower Inn will obligated to pay a 
lease for 20 years with the option to purchase after the grant 
funds are repaid. The lease payment schedule table is shown 
below:

Terms Annual Lease Rate
Monthly Payment           

(not including insurance)
Years 1-2 $43,729.00 $3,644.08
Years 3-7 $104,949.00 $8,745.75
Years 8-10 $87,457.00 $7,288.00
Years 11-20 $174,914.90 $14,576.24
Total $2,623,723.00

Lease Payment Schedule

The WBC will recapture 29% annually of total net revenues. 
Total revenue recapture after 10 years will be $253,627 and 
total recapture after sale of the building is $709,760. The 
additional lease revenue will be allocated to the Powell Eco-
nomic Development Fund.   

Cost estimates were prepared by Dennis Deppmeier of Mon-
tana and the cost per square foot is $242.97.

Attorney General Opinion
Pending

BRC amount 2,623,724$  
Cash Match 146,000$     
  Transfer of Land 126,000$     
  Architect/Eng. Fees 15,000$       
  PEP/The Merc 5,000$         
In-Kind Match 146,000$     
  Project Services & Time 72,000$       
  Transfer of Land 74,000$       
Total eligible project cost 2,915,724$  
BRC % of total eligible project costs 90%
Local % of total eligible project costs 10%

Land Acquisition Costs
Land 200,000$     
Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 286,000$     

Site work 453,774$     
Demolition and removal -$                 
Building Components:
  Mechanical, plumbing, HVAC systems 267,410$     
  Landscaping 48,253$       
  Foundation and/or Structural Framing system 377,927$     
  Interior Finishes 416,917$     
  Fire Protection 146,608$     
  Real Property Technology/Kitchen 374,000$     
Profit Overhead + Construction Manager 170,317$     
Contingencies (7%) 174,518$     
Total Uses 2,915,724$  

Construction Costs

Uses

Sources



C-27Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends funding as requested contingent upon proof of private and investor financing secured by the hotel 
developer.

Project Overview

Purpose

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Land 119,358$     6,642$                   74,000$                   
Non-Construction Costs 202,720$     11,280$                 72,000$                   
Construction Costs 2,301,646$  128,078$               -$                            
Total Project Cost 2,623,724$  146,000$               146,000$                 

95%
Quantity

1

87,457$                 

314,847$               
17.02$                   
15.16$                   

32.5
6,000,000$            
4

10,000 sq. ft
Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed
New Building Construction

Full-time equivalents
Additional Investment Hotel facility construction investment

Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes

Businesses Assisted Powell Conference Center

Revenue Recapture: Years 1 - 2 Based on lease structure that discounts the first two 
years for cash flow purposes.

Revenue Recapture: Years 3 - 5 Total recapture of $402,304
County Median Wage
Median Wage of Jobs Created Includes estimated benefits
Jobs to be Created (3 Year Projection)

Powell Conference Center - Clock Tower Inn
The city of Powell requests a $2,623,724 Business Ready Community (BRC) Community Readiness grant to construct a 
10,000 square-foot conference and community center to be located adjacent to the proposed Clock Tower Inn Hotel in 
the Gateway West Business Park. 

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

200,000$                               
286,000$                               

2,429,724$                            
2,915,724$                            

Percentage BRC of all cash:





C-29Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

TOWN OF SUNDANCE 
OLD STONEY RESTORATION

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

 $300,000 Community Development – 
Readiness Grant

Staff Recommendation: Fund as requested

Project Description
The town of Sundance requests $300,000 Business Ready 
Community (BRC) Community Development funds for the shortfall 
on the Old Stoney Restoration project.  The original project request 
was $2,957,434. (See original project description attached.)  The 
project was ultimately funded at $2,452,104.  All bids received 
on the project were higher than what cost estimates projected 
and higher than what the city was awarded in grant funds.  Value 
engineering saved $146,564.  However, there is no funding available 
as a contingency.

The Crook County Museum Board secured private financing to cover 
the shortfall and began fundraising to avoid using the debt financing.  
A Notice to Proceed was issued on March 5, 2018.  Fund-raising 
efforts total approximately $112,000 with donations from Sundance 
State Bank, Powder River Energy Corporation and Basin Electric. 
Donations have since tapered off.

The requested amount from Sundance will cover contingency funds 
in event of unforeseeable issues.  Fund-raising efforts will continue.

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends funding for this project.  Typically, staff does not 
recommend additional funding for a project previously awarded.  
Applicants are asked to stipulate they will cover cost overruns.  
However, in this case, the applicant requested what they believed 
they needed to complete the project but were only awarded partial 
funding.  To eliminate the need for a museum board or a small 
community to take on debt financing, staff is recommending making 
the additional funding available.  It will be returned to the BRC 
account if it is not necessary to complete the project. 



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-30

Previous SLIB materials, Apr. 2017

Business Ready  
Community Grant 
and Loan Program

23State Loan and Investment Board   -  April 2017

TOWN OF SUNDANCE 
 
$2,957,434 Community Readiness Grant

Old Stoney Restoration Phase 1

WBC Recommendation: 
Fund

Project Description

The town of Sundance requests a $2,957,434 Business Ready Community (BRC), Community Readiness 
grant to renovate the first and second floors of Old Stoney, Sundance’s iconic school building near 
downtown and along Main Street. Old Stoney was built in 1923 and served as Sundance High School for 
many years. In 1985, it was added to the National Register of Historic places. Sundance is a Wyoming 
Main Street community, and Old Stoney will be the focal point of its Main Street program. Next to Old 
Stoney to the south is the condemned Crook County School District Administration Building, which will be 
demolished with funds from the Legislature and reclaimed to green space to provide a welcoming space 
and entry way to Old Stoney and the Main Street of Sundance.

Sundance is located along Interstate 90 (I-90) in northeast 
Wyoming. It is the gateway to Wyoming that travelers 
use when coming from South Dakota.  Crook County’s 
attractions and history include Devils Tower and the 
“Sundance Kid” spending time in the jail that shares 
the grounds with Old Stoney. The vision for downtown 
Sundance will be a tourist attraction for those traveling 
along I-90 and many others who visit the area. 

The Crook County Commissioners approved the Crook 
County Museum District Board’s purchase of Old Stoney 
from the county in 2009. Work began immediately 
to raise revenue to reverse the dilapidation and 
deterioration through the following efforts:

• $230,000 Brownfields (EPA) Grant 

• $30,000 State Loan and Investments Grant 

• $90,000 Cultural Trust Fund Grant 

• Bake Sales

• Annual Art Auction

• Other fund raising efforts and donations 



C-31Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Previous SLIB materials, Apr. 2017

State Loan and Investment Board   -  April 201724

The city of Sundance has raised over $650,000 in six years to pay for the completion of new roofing, 
windows, asbestos and lead paint abatement and point and tuck on the stonework. Of the $650,000 total, 
$190,000 is in a trust fund to provide a matching fund base for grant applications. 

The renovated building will provide a more suitable location for the Crook County Museum and Cultural 
Center. The museum boasts exhibits and artifacts from Crook County, including the Vore Buffalo Jump site, 
Native American culture, Old West life and the Sundance Kid trial court room with an armory display. 

The renovation will also include:

• 2,400 square feet of rental space for local businesses and events.

• A research area will also be formed here, which will give access to the thousands of historical records 
that the museum offers the public. 

• Broadband capabilities in the building.

The entrepreneurial space will be rented out for $1.25 per square foot with utilities included. There will 
be three units of business space within Old Stoney, each of various sizes. The rental space revenue is 
estimated at $22,035 for year 2019. The events center will also be available for rent at $400 per event; 
therefore, the estimated 2019 revenue from events space is $6,400. The Crook County Museum will also 
charge a $5 entry fee. A previous three-year visitation average showed over 5,000 people per year. It is 
estimated 5,500 people will visit the museum annually by 2019, bringing an estimated $27,500 in revenue. 
These revenue options, as well as an annual art auction, will generate enough money to pay operational 
and utility expenses. 

The basement of Old Stoney will be a museum archival storage and restoration area for artifacts that will 
be housed for preservation purposes. An ADA-accessible elevator will be installed in Old Stoney for moving 
art, as well as disabled visitors.  

Project Benefits and Goals

Sundance has the potential to be a premier destination for meetings, conferences and conventions 
when Old Stoney is renovated. Broadband capabilities will allow for state, regional and local conference 
opportunities. Old Stoney plans include a marketing plan to capitalize on meeting opportunities, including 
planning services to arrange meals, lodging, transportation and entertainment for multiple-sized 
conferences.

Project goals include:

• Renovate the first and second floors of Old Stoney.

• Offer three premium entrepreneurial retail spaces.

• Offer event/conference rooms.

• Increase visitation, retail sales and sales tax.

• Create six part-time jobs and retain two museum full-time positions.



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-32

Previous SLIB materials, Apr. 2017

25State Loan and Investment Board   -  April 2017

Revenue streams include:

• Old Stoney Event Center room rentals.

• Entrepreneurial rental space.

• Admissions to Crook County Museum.

• Old Stoney Annual Art Auction.

Timeline

If funded, the Old Stoney renovation is expected 
to award the construction bid by January 2018. 
Construction will commence as soon as the 
construction bid is awarded. The construction is 
expected to be complete by December 2018. 

Funding

The overall project cost is $3,607,434. There is a total 
of $449,000 in ineligible costs that are funded with a 
Brownfields (EPA) grant, as well as local fundraising, a 
cultural trust and Crook County Museum Foundation 
dollars. The total eligible project cost is $3,158,434, 
of which $2,957,434 is BRC Community Readiness 
grant funds. The grant is matched by $192,000 in 
Landers Trust funding specific to the rehabilitation 
of Old Stoney, as well as a $9,000 Waugh/Schelldorf 
Families cash donation, which is specific to doors and 
windows for the Old Stoney renovation.

WBC Deliberation

The Board heard from Kathy Lenz, the Clerk/Treasurer 
for the city of Sundance, and Pam Thompson, Chairman of the Crook County Museum District Board of 
Trustees. Ms. Lenz described the community development plan that Sundance was able to commission 
with a planning grant. It is their roadmap for future development and she stressed that it was critical to 
engaging the community. The Board discussed the elements that make this a readiness project versus an 
enhancement. Staff noted that Old Stoney would have entrepreneurial space and events space to market 
to conventions or meetings. Downtown Sundance available space is largely occupied and this will add 
additional square footage for business space in the heart of Sundance.

The Board also discussed this project providing a venue for events in Sundance. Ms. Lenz informed the 
Board that it already is. Farm Bureau has had their events in Old Stoney even though there is no plumbing. 
Other organizations have done so as well but it is not ideal. Sundance regularly turns away events such as 
the state banking meeting due to lack of event space in the community.

BRC amount 2,957,434$ 
Cash Match 201,000$    
Total eligible project cost 3,158,434$ 
BRC % of total eligible project costs 94%
Local % of total eligible project costs 6%

Land Acquisition Costs
Land 20,000$      
Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 275,500$    
Project inspection fees 18,805$      

Site work 138,344$    
Demolition and removal 157,302$    
Building Components:
  Electrical Systems 242,000$    
  Mechanical, plumbing, HVAC systems 390,000$    
  Landscaping 11,955$      
  Foundation and/or Structural Framing system 223,370$    
  Interior Finishes 729,209$    
  Fire Protection 90,300$      
  Other (Freight/ADA elevator) 200,000$    
Contingencies (21%) 661,649$    
Total Uses 3,158,434$ 

Sources

Uses

Construction Costs



C-33Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Previous SLIB materials, Apr. 2017

State Loan and Investment Board   -  April 201726

The Board also asked what could be done with less funding or perhaps a phasing of the project. Ms. Lenz 
noted that the old Crook County School District building next to Old Stoney would be demolished with 
state funding approved through the Legislature. She expressed that infrastructure construction would be 
the most crucial step and that could be considered as phase one of the project. She said the town would be 
grateful for any consideration.

WBC Recommendation

The WBC unanimously recommends funding of this project in the amount of $2,452,104. The amount of 
funding recommended reflects available balances within the confines of the allocation plan.

SLIB Decision

_______________________________________________________________________________________

Project Overview

Purpose

Description BRC
Cash

Land 18,727$      1,273$                  
Non-Construction Costs 275,576$    18,729$                
Construction Costs 2,663,131$ 180,998$              
Total Project Cost 2,957,434$ 201,000$              

94%
Quantity

4
3%

10,000$                
58,795$                
24,960$                

7
2
650,000$              

.32 acres
15,000 s.f.

600 l.f.
300 l.f.

Sundance - Old Stoney Restoration Phase 1
The City of Sundance requests $2,957,434 in Community Readiness grant funds for the renovation 
of Old Stoney, Sundance's iconic old school building. Old Stoney will be home to the Crook 
County Museum and Cultural Center. In addition to the museum, there will also be a 
gathering/conference room with kitchen capabilities as well as an entrepreneurial space. 

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Match Total

20,000$                               
294,305$                             

2,844,129$                          
3,158,434$                          

Percentage BRC of all cash
Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes
Businesses Assisted Museum, 3 additional
Return on Investment
Revenue Recapture 3rd year 2021
County Median Wage
Median Wage of Jobs Created
Jobs to be Created (3 Year Projection)
Jobs to be Retained
Additional Investment Donations and Grants

Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed
Existing Building Construction Refurbish
Water Updated existing
Sewer 

UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED WBC RECOMMENDATION TO FUND, APRIL 6, 2017.



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-34

Previous SLIB materials, Apr. 2017

27State Loan and Investment Board   -  April 2017



C-35Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

BIG HORN COUNTY 
ANTELOPE BUTTE MOUNTAIN 

RECREATION AREA

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$185,600 BRC Community Development – 
Enhancement Project

Staff Recommendation: Fund as requested

Project Description
Big Horn County requests a $185,600 Business Ready Community 
(BRC) Community Development Enhancement grant for the purchase 
and installation of a 250-foot Magic Carpet style surface lift for 
beginner skiers at the Antelope Butte Mountain Recreation Area 
(ABMRA). The Antelope Butte Foundation, Inc. (ABF), a non-profit 
corporation, is working to reopen the Antelope Butte Ski area into a 
year-round mountain recreation area. This project will create jobs, 
benefit youth and families by providing year-round recreational, 
training and educational experiences, and benefit local businesses 
and communities through increased tourism activities. 

The area operated as a winter ski area from 1960-2004, until a family 
bankruptcy forced its closure. The ABF was created in 2011.  In 2017, 
ABF received a five-year Special Use Construction Permit from the 
U.S. Forest Service to reopen and operate the 500-acre ABMRA.  ABF 
has raised $1.98 million of their $4 million goal. ABF purchased the 
facility and is now in the process of renovating it and establishing an 
endowment. ABF has established a successful summer events over 
the last four years including music festivals, brew fests and more.

Trail work contracts have been signed and a bid for the lift work has 
been accepted. The ABF’s goal is to be operational for the 2018-2019 
winter season.

Project Goals and Public Benefits
•  Establish a year-round mountain recreation culture in 

the communities of northern Wyoming by providing 
affordable programming through local school districts, youth 
organizations, and outdoor recreation organizations that 
will educate and train youth, beginners and families on the 
benefits of leading a healthy outdoor lifestyle;

•  Receive a 40-year Special Use Permit from the USDA Forest 
Service for the operations of an outdoor recreation area.



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-36

•  Provide youth and their families affordable options to outdoor winter activities;

• Attractive workforce recruitment tool.

The recent Governor’s Task Force on Outdoor Recreation recommends to “Increase opportunities and 
resources available for local school districts to incorporate outdoor recreation and education in K-12 
curricula that focuses on creating lifelong recreationalists.”  ABF has established relationships with Big Horn 
and Sheridan County school districts and are actively developing a collaboration plan to implement these 
opportunities.

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends funding as requested contingent 
upon the receipt of the signed and executed 
Resolution of Support from Big Horn County. 

Staff further recommends a claw-back provision for 
the BRC funding if ABF is not awarded their 40-year 
Special Use Permit from the USDA Forest Service.

Project Overview

BRC amount 185,600$     
Cash Match 46,400$       
In-Kind Match -$                 
Total eligible project cost 232,000$     
BRC % of total eligible project costs 80%
Local % of total eligible project costs 20%

  Magic Carpet Lift, installation 232,000$     
Total Uses 232,000$     

Sources

Uses
Construction Costs

Purpose

Description BRC Match
Cash

Construction Costs 185,600$     46,400$                 
Total Project Cost 185,600$     46,400$                 

80%
Quantity

1
2,400,000$            

250,000$               Year Two
250,000$               Year Three
390,000$               
680,000$               
935,000$               
346,960$               

19.14$                   
17.50$                   

12
Project 
Infrastructure

Performance 
Measures

Measure
Businesses Assisted
Estimated Capital Expenditures Year One

Estimated Taxable Sales Year Three
Payroll

Acres Developed 120

Jobs to be Created (3 Year Projection)

Estimated Taxable Sales

Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule
Total

232,000$                                    
232,000$                                    

Percentage BRC of all cash:

Antelope Butte Mountain Recreation Area
Big Horn County requests a $185,600 BRC Community Development Enhancement grant for the 
purchase and installation of a 250-foot Magic Carpet style surface lift for beginner skiers at the 
Antelope Butte Mountain Recreation Area (ABMRA).  Big Horn County and the Antelope Butte 
Foundation, Inc. (ABF), a non-profit corporation, are working in partnership to reopen the Antelope 
Butte Ski area into a year-round mountain recreation area. 

Estimated Capital Expenditures 
Estimated Capital Expenditures 
Estimated Taxable Sales Year One

Year Two

Full time equivalents

Year one, 1-2.5% increase per 
year through year 5

County Median Wage
Median Wage of Jobs Created



Addendum
Correspondence

 TOPIC PAGE

Letters of public input are in the following order:

City of Cody                                    C–38-43

Goshen Care Center JPB                        C–44-66

City of Gillette                                   C–67-77

City of Powell                                  C–78-106

Big Horn County                              C–107-120



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-38



C-39Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-40



C-41Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-42



C-43Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-44



C-45Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-46



C-47Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-48



C-49Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-50



C-51Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-52



C-53Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-54



C-55Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-56



C-57Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-58



C-59Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-60



C-61Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-62



C-63Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-64



C-65Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-66



C-67Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

August 20, 2018

Mr. Shawn Reese
Chief Executive Officer
Wyoming Business Council
214 West 15th Street
Cheyenne, WY 82002-0240
shawn.reese@wyo.gov

Re: City of Gillette’s Business Ready Communities--Community Readiness Grant 
Application to the Wyoming Business Council

Dear Mr. Reese:

As you may know, Charter Communications (“Charter”) has been working with the Wyoming 
Business Alliance and a diverse group of technology stakeholders and providers since July 2017 
to deepen the understanding of Wyoming’s broadband picture on a statewide level.  The concerns 
expressed in this letter in no manner diminish our support for the overall goal of broadband 
expansion in the State of Wyoming, or our cooperative position towards achieving that important 
objective. Based upon our extensive, first-hand experience with various best practices from the 
41 states in which Charter does business, we would respectfully suggest that to maximize the 
impact of available public support for rural broadband, investment in unserved areas should be 
prioritized.

Charter offers high-speed broadband service on its hybrid fiber-coax plant that ubiquitously 
extends throughout the City of Gillette (“City”).  We currently provide entry flagship residential 
broadband speeds of up to 100/10 Mbps. With regard to business customers, our service offerings 
can be customized to meet the needs of virtually any business, from the smallest to the largest 
with speeds ranging from 60 Mbps up to 10 Gbps or more on an individual as needed basis.  All 
of these advanced services are provided while competing with multiple facilities based Internet 
service providers (“ISPs”).1

On April 4th, 2018, the City notified Charter its intent to file for a Community Readiness Grant 
Application (“Application”) with the Wyoming Business Council (“Council”) requesting funds 
in the amount of $1,440,256 in support of the City’s Fiber Improvement Project before the June 
1, 2018 deadline.  We understand that this grant application will likely come before the Wyoming 
Business Council Board of Directors (“Council”) on September 6, 2018 for consideration, and
we respectfully request that the Council take into account the following issues when it reviews 
the City’s application and funding request.

• Should scarce taxpayer resources be used to overbuild areas that already have high-speed 
broadband service? 

1 City of Gillette, Wyoming, Business Ready Community Grant & Loan Program, Application Attachment 2 “Gillette 
Broadband Report” page 9. 



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-68

o Several areas of the state lack broadband service entirely, and to address this need 
for broadband service expansion, we respectfully recommend that public support 
be focused on unserved areas to maximize the impact/value of public funds for rural 
broadband deployment.

o The City’s application came about after a few local ISPs approached the City to 
secure public funds to subsidize their business expansion.2 Conversely, Charter 
has invested its own private capital in the City without receiving any government 
subsidies.

o As noted above, including Charter, the City already has a competitive broadband 
market with three facilities based ISPs offering competitive choice and robust 
services. This view is underscored by that the fact that the City’s own Broadband 
Report notes “That the level of competition exceeds what many cities across the 
country possess”. 3

o Charter respectfully suggests that the grant funds requested by the City could be 
more effectively leveraged to provide broadband to those that have no access in 
unserved areas rather than subsidizing the efforts of ISP’s in an area that is already 
well served by competing providers. 

• Should there be a required level of investment from private entities who receive direct or 
indirect benefits from the grant?

o Pursuant to the requirements of the city’s application, the lease rate for ISPs is $0.47 
per foot per year, with a three percent (3%) annual increase over a five-year lease 
term.  No private sector capital investment is required; and taxpayers assume the 
entire financial risk of the Fiber Improvement Project with a questionable 285-year 
repayment period.4

There is value in public-private partnerships when structured properly.  Our overriding concern 
with this Application is that it encourages publicly-subsidized competition in areas that are already 
served by existing broadband providers, and where Charter has specifically invested its own 
private capital while other areas in Wyoming continue to lack access to broadband service. We 
request that the Council take these concerns into account when reviewing this matter and consider 
denying the Application so that funds can be more effectively used in other areas.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide these comments in response to the City’s request for 
grant funding.  We welcome your questions.

2 Ibid, Public Benefits, 3. 
3 Ibid, Attachment 2 “Gillette Broadband Report”, 9. 
4 Ibid, Revenue Recapture Plan and Lease Agreement, 9-10.



C-69Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018

Sincerely,

/S/

Erik Rasmussen
Senior Manager
Government Affairs

cc: Julie Kozlowski, Community Development Director, julie.kozlowski@wyo.gov
Brayden Connour, BRC/CDBG Project Manager, brayden.connour2@wyo.gov
Karen Fate, BRC Project Manager, karen.fate@wyo.gov
Russ Elliott, State Broadband Manager, russ.elliott@wyo.gov



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-70



C-71Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-72



C-73Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-74



C-75Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-76



C-77Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-78



C-79Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-80



C-81Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-82



C-83Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-84



C-85Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-86



C-87Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-88



C-89Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-90



C-91Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-92



C-93Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-94



C-95Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-96



C-97Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-98



C-99Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-100



C-101Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-102



C-103Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-104



C-105Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-106



C-107Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-108



C-109Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-110



C-111Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-112



C-113Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-114



C-115Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-116



C-117Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-118



C-119Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  September 2018C-120


	09062018_AA
	09062018_A
	09062018_B
	09062018_C



